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A MESSAGE FROM
THE BOARD CHAIR
Welcome to the West Wimmera Health
Service 2016-2017 Annual Report.
This report aims to provide a transparent account
of how the Service performed in all aspects over the
2016-2017 financial year. The reader should gain a
clear understanding of the progress that has been made
towards achieving our strategic goals and in particular
our primary objective: to provide safe and high quality
healthcare to our communities, always. The report
also details how we performed financially over the year
including our financial position at year-end.
On 1 July 2016 we welcomed the Minyip, Murtoa
and Rupanyup communities into the fold through
our amalgamation with Dunmunkle Health Services.
This outcome was the culmination of several years
of dedicated effort by many people. Any change of
this nature and magnitude inevitably involves some
‘teething’ issues but by and large it has been an
overwhelming success and I thank and congratulate
everyone involved.
The staff and board members of what was Dunmunkle
Health Services are to be particularly commended for
the positive, determined and committed way in which
they have embraced the amalgamation. They saw
change not as a threat but as a challenge to be met
head on and turned to their advantage.
We are now closer to completion of the Nhill
Hospital Hydrotherapy Pool and Community
Rehabilitation Centre. This new service will
significantly enhance our capacity to get patients
back on their feet quickly and safely. We are very
grateful for the financial support provided by the
V V Marshman Trust towards this project.
Further progress was made in our aim to work more
closely with our neighbouring health services at
Horsham, Edenhope and Warracknabeal through
the Wimmera Southern Mallee Health Alliance. We
understand we are one of many important pieces in
the Victorian rural health jigsaw puzzle and that we
cannot always be all things to all people. That is why
2

we will continue to work with organisations such as
these in a collaborative and respectful manner. We
will also look to build on links with larger regional
and metropolitan providers so that if we can’t help,
we’ll know somewhere that can.
To our many employees, contracted medical
professionals and volunteers – thankyou. The
dedication, skill and resilience you exhibit on a daily
basis makes you the bedrock of the Service. In many
ways our capacity to provide safe, high quality and
sustainable healthcare starts and ends with you.
We are listening to what our employees have to
say and we will continue to act to ensure they are
treated fairly and with respect at all times. We do
not and will not tolerate any form of inappropriate
behaviour involving any Service employee. Any
form of bullying, harassment, discrimination or
occupational violence and aggression will be dealt
with fairly and as firmly as the law allows.
Work continued on addressing the feedback
gained from the 2016 People Matter Survey.
This anonymous and independently conducted
analysis continues to provide valuable information
on the West Wimmera Health Service employee
experience and what might be done to improve it.
I acknowledge and thank the Department of Health
and Human Services and in particular Safer Care
Victoria. The approach to the way safe healthcare is
monitored and assured has changed immeasurably
in light of the Duckett review. Our communities can
take comfort that their safety is now without doubt
the first and foremost priority for all stakeholders
involved in their healthcare.
Finally, this year saw the retirement of Steve Thomas
and Ron Rosewall from board duties. Steve brought
a wealth of experience as a long term member of the
Dunmunkle Health Services Board and contributed
significantly to the success of the amalgamation.
Thank you Steve and all the best in your ‘retirement’.

WEST WIMMERA HEALTH SERVICE

Ron’s retirement from the Board marked the loss of
countless years of invaluable skill and experience,
not just in relation to his specific area of expertise,
disability services, but across all Service areas.
Ron’s subsequent passing meant the loss of a true
gentleman and he will be sadly missed but fondly
remembered for many, many years to come.
As board members my colleagues and I understand
that our relatively short periods of stewardship do play
an important role in the West Wimmera Health Service
‘project’. We believe that we are succeeding in our
primary objective as a Board, namely, the appropriate
strategic guidance of West Wimmera Health Service.

We have made and we will continue to make decisions
that we believe are in the best long term interests of
the Service and therefore the communities we serve.
On behalf of the Board and in accordance with the
Financial Management Act 1994, I am pleased to
present the Report of Operations for West Wimmera
Health Service for the year ending 30 June 2017.

Leonie Clarke
President
Nhill, 14 August 2017

MANNER OF ESTABLISHMENT
& THE RELEVANT MINISTERS
West Wimmera Health Service is established as
a public hospital under the Health Services Act
1988 (The Act) and subsequent amendments and
delivers health services to nine communities in the
Grampians Region of the Victorian Department of
Health and Human Services.

The relevant Ministers are The Hon Jill Hennessy
MP, Minister for Health, Minister for Ambulance
Services, The Hon Martin Foley MP, Minister for
Housing, Disability and Ageing, Minister for Mental
Health and The Hon Jenny Mikakos MP, Minister for
Families and Children, Minister for Youth Affairs.

OUR VISION
To establish and maintain a high quality and responsive health service through the pursuit of excellence and
effective use of innovation and technology.

OUR MISSION
West Wimmera Health Service is committed to the delivery of health, welfare and disability services which
are compassionate, responsive, accessible and accountable to individual and community needs, and which
result in quality outcomes for the people of the West and Southern Wimmera and the Southern Mallee.

OUR VALUES
• A Safe Environment
• Strong Leadership and Management
• A Culture of Continuing Improvement
• Effective Management of the Environment
• Responsive Partnerships with our Consumers
3
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OUR
COMMUNITY
West Wimmera Health Service provides health
and community care services to people within the
following four LGA’s
• Hindmarsh
• West Wimmera
• Yarriambiack
• Horsham Rural City

The population in our catchment area can be largely
characterised by the decreasing population growth
and a very high proportion of the population being 40
years and over.
Although traditionally persons born in other
countries have made up a very low percentage of the
population in out catchment area, Nhill in particular
has seen a substantial increase in this demographic
cohort in recent times. This has been largely due to
the settlement of Karen refugees who now make up
some 10% of the population in Nhill.

OUR
FACILITIES
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GOROKE

Goroke Community Health Centre

RUPANYUP Rupanyup Nursing Home

NHILL

Nhill Hospital
Iona Digby Harris Nursing Home
Cooinda Disability Service
Nhill Dental Clinic

NATIMUK

Natimuk Nursing Home
Allan W Lockwood Hostel
Trescowthick House Hostel

MINYIP

Minyip Community Health Centre

KANIVA

Kaniva Hospital
Archie Gray Nursing Home
Arthur Vivian Close Hostel

RAINBOW

Rainbow Hospital
Rainbow Bush Nursing Home Annexe
Rainbow Bush Nursing Hostel

JEPARIT

Jeparit Hospital
Jeparit and District Nursing Home

MURTOA

Murtoa Community Health Centre

WEST WIMMERA HEALTH SERVICE

OUR
SERVICES
AGED CARE

PRIMARY AND PREVENTATIVE HEALTH

• Aged care assessment service
• Aged residential homes
• Commonwealth Home Support Program – Respite
• Home Care Packages

• Antenatal/shared care pregnancy clinic
• Asthma Education
• Cancer Resource Nurse
• Cancer Support Group
• Cardiac Rehabilitation
• Community Health Nursing
• Continence Education
• Developmental screenings
• Diabetes Education
• Diabetes Support Group
• Dietetics
• District Nursing
• Endocrinology telehealth clinics
• Falls and balance groups
• Gentle exercise groups
• Healthy eating and cooking groups
• Health education and promotion
• Initial needs coordination
• Interpreting services – Karen
• Massage Therapy
• Maternal and Child Health
• National Diabetes Service
• Occupational Therapy
• Physiotherapy
• Planned Activity Groups
• Podiatry
• Pregnant/new mothers exercise group
• Quit smoking education
• Refugee Health Nurse
• Social Work – welfare
• Speech Pathology
• Warm winter exercise groups
• Well Women’s Health Clinic
• Youth Mental Health First Aid

CLINICAL
• Acute hospital care
• Audiology
• Central sterilising services
• Dialysis
• Domiciliary
• Midwifery
• ENT surgery
• General surgery
• Geriatrician
• Immunisations
• Infection control
• Medical imaging (CT scanning, X-ray, ultrasound,
dental orthopantomogram)
• Obstetrics and gynaecology
• Ophthalmic surgery
• Optometry
• Oral surgery
• Orthopaedic surgery
• Palliative care
• Pathology
• Pharmacy
• Physician
• Urgent care
• Visiting Cardiac Specialist
• Visiting Dermatologist

5
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OUR
SERVICES

[CONTINUED]

COMMUNITY CARE
• Centrelink
• Community catering
• Meals on wheels

DISABILITY
• Community access
• Community inclusion
• Exercise programs
• Respite
• Supported employment
• Vocational training

DENTAL SERVICES
• General dentistry
• Mobile clinic
• Oral health education and promotion
• Oral health and hygiene therapy
• Oral surgery

REGIONAL SERVICES
• Allambi Elderly Peoples Home, Dimboola
• Avonlea Hostel, Nhill
• Edenhope College
• Edenhope and District Memorial Hospital
• Goroke P-12 College
• Harrow Bush Nursing Centre
• Haven Primary School
• Hindmarsh Shire Council
• Horsham West Primary School
• Jeparit Primary School
• Kaniva College
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• Kindergartens: Nhill, Jeparit, Kaniva, Minyip,
Murtoa, Natimuk, Rainbow, Goroke, Rupanyup,
Edenhope
• Lutheran Primary School, Nhill
• Minyip Primary School
• Murtoa P-12 College
• Natimuk Primary School
• Nhill P-12 College
• Our Lady Help of Christians School, Murtoa
• Rainbow P-12 College
• Rainbow Learning Centre
• Rainbow Primary School
• Rupanyup Primary School
• Rural Northwest Health
• Special Development School, Warracknabeal
• St Mary’s Primary School, Warracknabeal
• St Patrick’s Primary School, Nhill
• St Peters Lutheran School, Dimboola
• Volunteering Western Victoria
• West Wimmera Shire Council
• Wimmera Health Care Group, Dimboola Campus
• Wimmera Uniting Care
• Woomelang Bush Nursing Centre
• Yarriambiack Shire Council

COMMUNITY PROGRAMS
• Hospital in the Home (HITH)
• National Respite for Carers Program (NRCP)
• Post Acute Care (PAC)
• Home and Community Care (HACC)
• Community and Women’s Health Program
(C&WH)
• Enhanced Primary Care Program (EPC)
• Commonwealth Home Support Program (CHSP)
• National Disability Insurance Scheme (NDIS)

WEST WIMMERA HEALTH SERVICE

ORGANISATIONAL
STRUCTURE
BOARD OF MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE SERVICES

CLINICAL SERVICES
• Clinical Governance

CORPORATE AND QUALITY
SERVICES

• Acute Care and Surgical Services

• Hospitality and Environmental Services

• Central Sterilising and Infection Control

• Consumer Engagement

• Pharmacy

• Education

• Radiology

• Occupational Health and Safety

• Residential Aged Care

• Quality and Accreditation

FINANCE AND ADMINISTRATION
• Personnel, Payroll and Human Resources

MEDICAL SERVICES
• Visiting Medical Practitioners

• Procurement and Inventory
• Accounting and Administration
• Information Technology
• Corporate Governance

PRIMARY AND
PREVENTATIVE HEALTH
BUSINESS AND STRATEGY

• Allied and Community Health

• Capital Projects

• District Nursing

• Engineering Services

• Community Health Centres

• Aged Care Administration

• Commonwealth Home Support

• In Home Care

Programme

• Dental Services

• Maternal and Child Health

• Disability Services

• Planned Activity Groups
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CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
BOARD OF MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Board of Management of West Wimmera
Health Service is responsible to the Minister for
Health who in turn is accountable to Parliament
for our performance as a health service. Boards are
appointed and may be removed by the Governor
in Council.

BUSINESS AND STRATEGY

As at 30 June 2017 the Service’s Board was
comprised of the following members:
Ms Leonie Clarke President
Mr Lloyd Milgate Vice President
Mr Ronald Rosewall
Mr Harvey Champness
Mrs Anne Rogers
Mrs Naomi Zanker
Mrs Therese Allen
Mrs Katherine Colbert
Mrs Alex Hall
Mr Stephen Thomas
Mrs Delwyn Tyler
Mr John Millington
Mr Jim Fletcher Delegate of the Minister for Health

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
Ms Leonie Clarke President
Mr Lloyd Milgate Vice President
Mrs Anne Rogers
Mrs Katherine Colbert
Mr John Millington

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Mr John Smith
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Mrs Melanie Albrecht
LLB, BIS, MHA, MBA, GAICD
Responsible for management of Dental and
Disability Services, Aged Care Administration,
Engineering and Capital Projects, Contracts and
Community Home Support Programs.
FINANCE AND ADMINISTRATION
Mr Ritchie Dodds
BCom (Acc) CA FFin MBA GAICD
Responsible for Finance, Payroll, Procurement,
Information Technology and Administration
functions across all areas of the Service.
CORPORATE AND QUALITY SERVICES
Mr Darren Welsh
RN, BN GradDip(Adminsitrative Mgt),
GradCertOccHlthSfty, GradDipOccHlthSfty
Responsible for Hospitality and Environmental
Services, Education, Quality Systems, Accreditation,
Risk Management, Emergency Management,
Occupational Health and Safety, Security, and
Consumer Engagement across the organisation.
CLINICAL SERVICES
Mrs Jan Fisher
RN, Adv. Dip. Business Management
Responsible for clinical services including Acute
Care, Residential Aged Care, Surgical Services,
Pharmacy, Radiology, Infection Control and Aged
Care Assessment Services for all sites.

WEST WIMMERA HEALTH SERVICE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS [Continued]
MEDICAL SERVICES

PRIMARY AND PREVENTATIVE HEALTH

Dr Ian Graham
MB,BS, M. Health Planning; FRACMA, Cert. Essential
Skills in Medical Education (AMEE)

Mrs Kaye Borgelt
MHSc (HIM), Assoc Dip Med Rec Admin, Grad Certificate
Mgt Org Change

Responsible for credentialing, appointment, scope
of practice and performance management of
Visiting Medical Practitioners.

Responsible for allied and community health,
district nursing, planned activity groups and
preventative health across all areas of the Service.

WORKFORCE INFORMATION
June
Current Month FTE

June
YTD FTE

Labour Category

2016

2017

2016

2017

Nursing

137.3

160.0

139.1

161.5

46.2

53.0

43.6

53.9

2.3

1.4

1.5

1.9

124.0

144.4

126.2

138.7

0.3

0.2

0.3

0.2

26.7

33.0

26.0

31.7

336.8

392.0

336.7

387.9

Administration and Clerical
Medical Support
Hotel and Allied Services
Medical Officers
Ancillary Staff (Allied Health)
Totals

Note: FTE = Full Time Equivalent
The large increase in total FTE from the prior year is primarily due to the amalgamation with Dunmunkle Health Services which took
effect on 1 July 2016.

Employment and Conduct Principles

discrimination and which is safe and without risk
to health.

Merit and equity principles are encompassed in
all employment and diversity management activities
throughout West Wimmera Health Service.

Our employees are committed to our values and
behaviours as per the principles of employment and
conduct and we actively promote cultural diversity
and awareness in the workplace.

The Service is an equal opportunity employer
and is committed to providing its employees a
work environment which is free of harassment or

We have correctly classified our employees in the
Department’s workforce data collection process.
9
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FINANCIAL
RESULTS
Significant changes in financial position
during the 2016-17 financial year and
factors affecting performance
Over the course of the 2016-2017 financial
year the Service’s total Cash and Short Term
Investments held increased by some $5.1m. Cash
and investments held for the Service’s own purposes
rose from $6.4m to $7.7m while monies held in
relation to Residential Aged Care Refundable
Accommodation Deposits increased from $6.1m to
$9.9m.
The Service’s own cash increased due to the positive
cash flow result recorded for operating activities
($3.391m) well offsetting the net cash flows used
for capital type purposes such as capital expenditure
(-$2.004m).
Residential Aged Care monies held increased
as a result of higher refundable accommodation
deposits being received by new aged care residents
compared to those held by former residents.
Some $700k of the increase in total cash held was
a result of the amalgamation of West Wimmera
Health Service with Dunmunkle Health Services
which took effect on 1 July 2016.

Operational and budgetary objectives
of the Health Service for the 2016-17
financial year and performance against
those objectives including significant
activities and achievements during the year
The Service’s operational objectives for the year
were met to a satisfactory extent (refer separate
section related to Statement of Priorities).
The Service once again recorded an albeit very small
operating surplus ($4k). This result was $46k less
than the budgeted outcome but is commendable
having regard to the amalgamation with Dunmunkle

10

Health Services.
The Service also held a much higher level of cash
and investments (excluding refundable aged care
deposits) due two major factors.
Firstly, the capital expenditure associated with the
Mira refurbishment and hydrotherapy pool works
was incurred at a significantly slower rate than
originally budgeted.
Secondly, several capital grants were received from
the Department during the year but remained
unspent at 30 June 2017. It is anticipated that the
related capital projects (upgraded security systems,
air-conditioning replacements for Nhill Hospital)
will be substantially completed in the 2017-2018
financial year.

Events subsequent to balance date
which may have a significant effect on
the operations of the Health Service in
subsequent years
Nil.

WEST WIMMERA HEALTH SERVICE

INCOME
STATEMENT
Financial Year Ending 30 June
2017
$'000s

2016
$'000s

2015
$'000s

2014
$'000s

2013
$'000s

Total Revenue

44,788

38,552

36,048

34,473

35,182

Total Expenses

(46,092)

(39,633)

(38,078)

(38,298)

(37,198)

223

-

-

-

-

(1,081)

(1,081)

(2,030)

(3,825)

(2,016)

4

518

103

14

104

2017
$'000s

2016
$'000s

2015
$'000s

2014
$'000s

2013
$'000s

Current Assets

18,883

13,664

10,333

8,761

11,408

Non-Current Assets

64,944

62,089

63,647

65,783

50,013

(21,221)

(16,468)

(13,614)

(12,170)

(12,975)

Non-Current Liabilities

(1,022)

(1,104)

(1,104)

(1,082)

(981)

Net Assets (Equity)

61,584

58,181

59,262

61,292

47,465

Other Operating Flows Included
in the Net Result
Net Result for the Year
Operating Result for the Year

BALANCE
SHEET
Financial Year Ending 30 June

Current Liabilities
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CONSULTANCIES INFORMATION
Details of consultancies (under $10,000)
In 2016-17, there were no consultancies where the total fees payable to the consultants were less than $10,000.

Details of consultancies (valued at $10,000 or greater)
In 2016-17, there was 1 consultancy where the total fees payable to the consultants were $10,000 or greater.
The total expenditure incurred during 2016-17 in relation to this consultancy was $39,614 (refer below).

Consultant

Purpose of
consultancy

Zed Business NDIS
Consulting
Readiness
Review

Start date End date
1 July
2016

Total approved
Expenditure
Future
project fee
2015-16
expenditure
(excluding GST) (excluding GST) (excluding GST)
$’000
$’000
$’000

30 June
2017

13

13

13

INFORMATION & COMMUNICATION
TECHNOLOGY (ICT) EXPENDITURE
The Service’s total Information and Communication Technology (ICT) “Business As Usual” expenditure
(excluding GST) for the reporting period was $1,061,051. The Service incurred no “Non-Business As Usual”
expenditure for the period.

COMPETITIVE NEUTRALITY
POLICY VICTORIA
All competitive neutrality requirements were met in accordance with the requirements of the Government
policy statement, Competitive Neutrality Policy Victoria and subsequent reforms.

EX-GRATIA PAYMENTS
No ex-gratia type expenses were either paid or written off during the reporting period.

VICTORIAN INDUSTRY
PARTICIPATION POLICY
West Wimmera Health Service complies with the requirements of the Victorian Industry Participation
Policy Act 2003.

12
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PROJECTS
& INITIATIVES
Strengthening our workforce capacity
• Leadership Management Course
During the 2016-17 financial year, 14 West
Wimmera Health Service staff completed the
Certificate IV in Leadership and Management
course through local education provider Skillinvest.
The course has enhanced relevant skills of a
broad cross section of Service staff who are
either in a supervisory position or are aspiring to
lead within West Wimmera Health Service.
• Rural and Isolated Practice Endorsed Registered
Nurses (RIPERN) Training
In early 2017 West Wimmera Health Service’s
Clinical Governance Committee gave
endorsement for two of our Nurses to undergo
RIPERN training annually.
There is currently one nurse registered to
undertake the training in 2017 which will
authorise the registered nurse to administer
or supply medicines, for nursing practice, in a
rural or otherwise isolated practice area, when
a Doctor or Nurse Practitioner is unavailable to
assist or attend to care, but in communication
with a Doctor.
The following elements guide West Wimmera
Health Service’s model:
> An urgent presentation, classified as a
Category 1 or 2, must be seen by a Doctor as
soon as possible.
> A medically complex presentation would be
seen by a Doctor as soon as possible.
> A non-urgent presentation, Category 3, 4 or
5, may be managed by an RN or RIPERN.
> A non-urgent presentation, where the
condition is supported by a clinical guideline
in the PCCM, can be managed by a RIPERN.

> A non-urgent presentation during medical
practice opening hours can be directed to the
practice for review and management.

Empower our communities
to live their best lives
• Refugee Health/Interpreting Services
A significant number of people with a Karen
background have moved to live in our catchment
in the last few years. For most of these people
English is not their first language and for many
they have no English skills at all. It was identified
that many members of this community were not
seeking health care locally, preferring to travel
4.5 hours to Melbourne where they could be
treated by health care professionals who speak
the Karen language.
As a result, an interpreter has been employed
who provides face-to-face interpreting services
for members of the Karen community in the
GP Medical Clinic, allied and community
health services, maternal & child health, acute
inpatients and urgent care. In 2016/17 a total
of 535 interpreting sessions were provided,
eliminating the need for clients to travel long
distances for health care.
A refugee health nurse has also been employed.
Her role is to work with Karen families to
promote good health and wellbeing and assist
individuals and families to engage with local
health services. This includes undertaking a
detailed assessment and ensuring clients can
gain access to treatment in a timely manner.
It was identified that the Karen community, in
common with many other migrant communities,
had lower rates of screening for preventable
cancers. In 2016/17 bowel scanning kits were
provided to Karen clients, including a brochure
translated into the Karen language, and the
13
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PROJECTS
& INITIATIVES
interpreter and refugee health nurse attended
locally arranged mammogram screening
sessions, providing Karen women with the
comfort of having a friendly face present
throughout.
• Home Care Package Program Reforms
On 27 February 2017 significant reforms were
rolled out to the Commonwealth Home Care
Package programs.
Historically the Service held funding for 20
Level 1 and Level 2 packages in total that were
available for eligible recipients in our catchment.
The new reforms mean that now packages are
directly allocated to recipients rather than to
providers. This means that the Service now has
the flexibility to facilitate as many packages
as required in the catchment. The Service also
has the ability to now offer packages across all
Levels 1-4.
At the end of the 2016-17 financial year the
Service had a total of 23 package recipients, a
13% increase. To date the new reforms have seen
wonderful outcomes for our rural communities
with people now being able to obtain locally
managed services maximising the benefits for
our rural communities.

Invest in population health approaches
• Promoting Health and Wellbeing
The role of Primary & Preventative Health is
to maintain health and wellbeing and provide
people with the skills and resources to allow
them to live independently for as long as they
wish to do so.
A number of programs are in place across
all sites to assist the frail elderly to maintain
independence including falls and balance classes,
14
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gentle exercise and healthy eating groups. In
2016/17 1,512 clients participated in falls and
balance classes and 1,032 clients enjoyed gentle
exercise classes.
Socialisation is recognised as a key component
of maintaining health and wellbeing. In 2016/17
we rebranded our Planned Activity Groups to
become ‘Retired and Alive’ Groups. Retired and
Alive is just that, groups of older people getting
out and about experiencing life, travelling to
interesting locations and enjoying each other’s
company. In 2016/17 38,494 hours of service
were delivered in this program, an increase of
10.6% on the previous year.
• Introduction of Mental Health Counselling Services
Our Social Work department comprises four
practitioners with a range of skills in counselling,
social and welfare work. From November 2016
West Wimmera Health Service has partnered
with Edenhope and District Memorial Hospital
to provide counselling for clients with mild to
moderate mental health illness. Funding for
this service is provided by the Western Victoria
Primary Health Network.
The program targets individuals who may
experience barriers accessing mainstream
treatment and provides treatment to individuals
with a diagnosed mild to moderate mental illness
or at risk of developing a mental illness, or who
have attempted, or are at risk of, suicide or selfharm.
Living in a rural and isolated location is a barrier
to people accessing mental health services
and so qualified and trained West Wimmera
Health Service Social Workers travel to each
site to provide counselling services as locally as
possible.

WEST WIMMERA HEALTH SERVICE

Build partnerships
for healthier communities

two-way communication between the Service
and our community.
• Community Catch Ups

• Community Consultation Forums
A multi-faceted approach to developing
community partnerships launched in 2017. Visits
to West Wimmera Health Service communities
commenced with a visit to each planned over
a 12 month period. Community consultations
continue in the traditional ‘community meeting’
style, however in addition a new ‘meet and greet’
format has been introduced. The delivery of the
two approaches to the consultations is designed
to attract a broad cross-section of consumers.
The traditional Community Meetings allow
people to hear about our projects and priorities,
and to engage directly with our executive
staff and board members. Attendees have
the opportunity to identify their own health
priorities for the community, share their
experiences and provide any suggestions for
improvements.
The Community Meetings comprise the
Executive, Board of Governance, Service
Improvement Coordinator, and staff from
each campus.
In conjunction with this, the ‘meet and greet’
opportunities encourage people to “pop-in”
for a coffee and chat during nominated times.
Opportunities to engage with attendees through
one-on-one health checks and other health
promotion activities have been created. The
more informal manner of these sessions allow
people to discuss their questions, experiences
and opinions in a more personal environment.
Our Service Improvement Coordinator works
with the executive and campus staff to facilitate
the ‘meet and greet’ events.
Both styles of consultations aim to promote a

The Service Improvement Coordinator and
the Community Development Worker, are
working in partnership on a series of Community
Catch Ups to be trialled in Minyip, Murtoa and
Rupanyup.
The Community Catch Ups are a series of short
consultations with selected community groups.
The consultations will take West Wimmera
Health Service out into the community, to the
community groups, as an alternative to asking
the community to come to us.
The catch ups will still offer an opportunity
for people to provide their feedback, make
suggestions and hear what’s happening at
WWHS. However there will also be a focus
during the catch ups on introducing ourselves
and other staff attendees as contacts for the
community and building relationships to help
foster engagement with the Service.
The Service has been successful in its application
for a Small Enabler Grant from the Wimmera
Primary Care Partnership, which will allow us to
provide morning or afternoon tea with the initial
visits to community group meetings.
Based on the success of Community Catch Up
trials, there exits the opportunity to initiate
more catch ups across the other towns within
our Service. Discussions have already been held
with the Goroke Community Health Centre to
investigate a similar program in the township.
• Introduction of the TAC Program
On 1 July 2016 West Wimmera Health Service
was pleased to be registered for the first time to
provide services to clients funded through the
Transport Accident Commission (TAC) Program.
15
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PROJECTS
& INITIATIVES
Dunmunkle Health Service had previously
provided personal and domestic care services
through the TAC Program and the skills and
knowledge acquired from this program through
the amalgamation quickly became highly valued.

Current Karen Catering staff are actively
involved in taking on management roles in a
Service run Café, learning additional procedures
with Hospitality and Environmental needs of the
Service in mind.

Throughout the year the program has grown to
now provide support to three individuals, two of
which receive 24 hour care 7 days a week. The
Service is proud of the quality of care we are able
to provide incorporating a variety of expertise
from Allied Health to personal care staff.

West Wimmera Health Service continues to be
actively involved in the Karen Community Plan
to unearth hidden potential and to model lifelong learning and job enjoyment where skills are
identified and utilised within the Service.

West Wimmera Health Service looks forward
to a long standing, highly collaborative
working partnership with TAC, and supporting
individuals in our community to live their best
lives and flourish.
• Hospitality and Environmental Services –
Engagement of the Karen Community
West Wimmera Health has contributed to
the engagement of the Karen Community
for employment, hospitality training and the
creation of a Hospital Menu to meet the needs of
the Karen people.
A partnership has been formed with our
local Learning Centre to ensure members of
the Karen community are introduced to the
workforce with relevant advice and experience
which contributes to successful education or
employment pathways.
Hospital tours and education sessions were
introduced in 2017 to assist the Karen people
on how to apply for a role in a health service
workplace.
Welcome pages in both Karen and English will
ensure the Karen Community and our Catering
Staff know how to present the menu with
directives on how to select meal choices on the
day if admitted to hospital.
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Harness technology and innovation
• Central Sterile Supply Department (CSSD) Sanitiser
In 2016, it was identified that the CSSD Sanitiser
located at the Nhill Hospital was in need of
urgent replacement due to its age, increasing
unreliability/frequency of breakdowns and its
impact on West Wimmera Health Service being
able to meet the impending introduction of new
clinical standards.
In early 2017, an order was placed to purchase
an Athertons BHT Innova M5ISO Touch Line
Double Door Washer Disinfector.
This product has the ability to perform high
impingement wash cycles for efficient and
effective cleaning, has a drying cycle capable of
rendering most items dry at the completion of
the cycle (particularly cannulated and complex
instruments), has a 10 DIN tray capacity and has
provisions for a MIS rack, Anaesthetic rack and
instrument rack.
The new washer disinfector also has a variable
height loading trolley allowing for improved
safe work practices, is compliant with ISO
15883 and has the ability to be configured to a
computerised tracking system at a later date if
desired.

WEST WIMMERA HEALTH SERVICE

• Joint Accreditation Project
In an Australian first, West Wimmera Health
Service and Hesse Rural Health undertook a
project to examine and test dual accreditation
between the National Safety and Quality
Health Service Standards and the Aged Care
Accreditation Standards: an organisational wide
review against a set of merged standards was
undertaken in July 2016.
The joint accreditation survey in 2016 examined
10 National Safety and Quality Health Service
Standards, 5 EQuIP National Content Standards
and 4 Aged Care Standards over a period of five
days. This method of accreditation survey had
never been undertaken in Australia before.
Following the survey advice was received from
the Australian Council on Healthcare Standards
that West Wimmera Health Service had attained
full accreditation against the National Safety
and Quality Health Service Standards and EQuIP
National Content.
Ongoing Accreditation was granted for a period
of four years until 22 November 2020.
This result has occurred due to the dedication
of our staff to achieve the very highest levels of
safety and quality for the patients we treat. This
statement is supported by the Australian Council
on Healthcare Standards awarding three “Met
with Merit” results in two standards.
• Hand Hygiene
In December 2015, members of West Wimmera
Health Service’s clinical team ventured to
Melbourne to visit the Epworth Hospital in
Box Hill to examine some of the hospital’s best
practice initiatives, one of which was the use of
their hand hygiene product Cutan.
Cutan is a hand hygiene product in the form
of an alcohol foam and contains 60% alcohol,

meeting the World Health Organisation’s
minimum recommendations. In Australia, the
recommended alcohol content for hand hygiene
products is 70%.
The Epworth Hospital found that although the
alcohol content in the product was lower, staff in
fact used the product more because it was less harsh
on the skin. Other benefits of the Cutan product
include decreased dripping and minimal staining.
In 2016 a trial of the product was undertaken
at our Nhill site showing similar results to those
seen at the Epworth Hospital. The increased use
of the product by staff more than compensated
for the decrease in alcohol content.
Following the trial, full implementation of the
product occurred in early 2017 across all West
Wimmera Health Service sites. The response
from staff who use the product on a daily basis
has been overwhelmingly positive.
• Upgraded Ultrasound Machine
In June 2017 a new General Electric – Logiq E9
ultrasound machine was installed at the Nhill
Hospital.
The new ultrasound will allow for improved imaging
quality and therefore more accurate diagnosis,
better ergonomics and faster scan times leading to
higher throughput. It also now gives West Wimmera
Health Service the ability to electronically transfer
measurements from the machine to the software
report writer ‘SonoReview’ which further improves
accuracy, removes transcription errors and
significantly increases the speed of the reporting
process.
In addition to the clinical benefits, it also ensures
the technology used at West Wimmera Health
Service is consistent with the wider industry,
making it easier and more appealing for new
locums when they visit the service.

17

ANNUAL REPORT 16 | 17

OCCUPATIONAL
HEALTH & SAFETY
Monitoring health, safety and wellbeing
Occupational Violence in the workforce is defined
as any incident where an employee is abused,
threatened or assaulted in circumstances arising out of,
or in the course of their employment.
West Wimmera Health Service has on average three

such events per month. In the main, such events
occur in residential aged care facilities, and often
involve a resident with dementia or other cognitive
impairment.
The following table provides an overview of the
Occupational Violence experience within the
service for the 2016-17 financial year.

Occupational violence statistics

2016-17

1. Workcover accepted claims with an occupational violence cause per 100 FTE

0.26

2. Number of accepted Workcover claims with lost time injury with an occupational violence
cause per 1,000,000 hours worked.

1.30

3. Number of occupational violence incidents reported

43.00

4. Number of occupational violence incidents reported per 100 FTE

11.08

5. Percentage of occupational violence incidents resulting in a staff injury, illness or condition

4.65

An Occupational Violence and Aggression action plan has been developed to reduce the number and
severity of such incidents in future.
Monitoring of the Occupational Health and Safety of staff within the Service also occurs through incident
analysis and investigation. In addition the rate of incidents is examined on a regular basis.
(a) the number of reported hazards/incidents for the year per 100 full-time equivalent staff members:
Year

18

Hazards / Incidents

Hazards / Incidents per 100 FTE employees

2016-2017

212

54.64

2015-2016

161

47.49

2014-2015

134

41.05

2013-2014

179

52.47

2012-2013

205

60.63
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(b) the number of ‘lost time’ standard claims for the year per 100 full-time equivalent staff members:
Year

Lost time claims

Lost time claims per
100 FTE employees

Days lost

2016-2017

8

2.06

638

2015-2016

7

2.06

333

2014-2015

3

0.92

129

2013-2014

4

1.17

76

2012-2013

6

1.77

146

The number of lost time claims was similar to the previous financial year. This has occurred despite early
intervention and building up very good relations with treating General Practitioners and other health care
professionals to assist with implementing effective Return to Work (RTW) plans that offer suitable duties
allowing injured workers to incorporate their RTW as part of their recovery and rehabilitation. Further work
will be undertaken with the aim of improving this area in the future.
(c) the average cost per claim for the year (including payments to date and an estimate of outstanding claim
costs as advised by WorkSafe);
Year

Average cost per claim

Estimate outstanding costs

2016-2017

$23,498

$187,984

2015-2016

$ 9,132

$322,243

2014-2015

$16,049

$ 72,146

2013-2014

$11,130

$ 35,013

2012-2013

$32,952

$ 21,746

The average cost per claim has increased from previous years, however projected future costs have
diminished substantially.
No workplace fatalities have been recorded in the last five years.
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STATEMENT OF
PRIORITIES PART A
Domain

Action

Deliverables

Outcomes

Quality
and safety

Implement systems
and processes to
recognise and support
person-centred end of
life care in all settings,
with a focus on
providing support for
people who choose to
die at home.

Implement an
organisational end of life
care in the community
policy based on the
Centre for Palliative Care
models by 30 June 2017.

A policy relating to end of life care in
the community was developed and
implemented. All district nursing staff
received training in about the policy and
‘Respecting Patient Choices’. End of life
choices are now routinely discussed
as part of the initial district nursing
assessment.

Advance care
planning is included
as a parameter in
an assessment of
outcomes including:
mortality and
morbidity review
reports, patient
experience and
routine data collection.

By 30 October 2016
ensure 100 per cent of
mortality and morbidity
reviews consider the use
of advanced care plan
directives; whether there
was a plan in place and if
so whether the directives
in the plan were followed.

In September 2016, advance care
planning was added as a parameter
to West Wimmera Health Service’s
mortality and morbidity reviews
ensuring the existence of plans were first
identified and then assessed to ascertain
directives were followed.
Since the introduction, results have
shown that all clients who had a plan in
place had it adhered to.
Mortality and Morbidity reviews are
also now a standing agenda item on the
Service’s Clinical Quality Improvement
Committee.

Progress
implementation of
a whole-of-hospital
model for responding
to family violence.

20

Undertake a selfassessment against the
Strengthening Hospital
Responses to Family
Violence toolkit by 31
December 2016 and
implement any required
improvements.

An initial self-assessment was completed
and a project brief formulated
addressing the key domains within the
Strengthening Hospital Response to
Family Violence document.

Provide identifying and
responding to family
violence training for
all allied health and
community staff.

52% of all Primary and Preventative
Health staff, including allied and
community health and district nursing
staff have completed the Lifeline 18
hour/10 week Family Violence training
program.

WEST WIMMERA HEALTH SERVICE

Domain

Action

Deliverables

Outcomes

Quality and
safety [ctd.]

Progress
implementation of
a whole-of-hospital
model for responding
to family violence
[ctd.].

Monitor staff
participation rates and
seek feedback through
survey methods to
evaluate staff confidence
levels in responding to
family violence pre and
post the identifying and
responding to family
violence training.

Following completion of the Lifeline
training program, an informal
evaluation showed improved staff
knowledge about what family violence
was and staff reported having greater
confidence in being able to identify
potential flags.

Conduct two urgent
care trauma and
resuscitation simulation
events involving doctors,
nurses, Ambulance
Victoria and Wimmera
Health Care Group by 30
June 2017.

The first urgent care trauma and
resuscitation simulation event was
conducted at the Rainbow Primary
Care Department on 22 November
2016.

Actively participate in
the Wimmera Southern
Mallee Health Alliance
to develop and monitor
programs and initiatives
throughout the subregion, including health
literacy, consumer
engagement, cardiac
rehabilitation and
oncology telehealth
to improve alternative
services for clients
as close to home as
possible.

The Service’s Service Improvement
Coordinator has been collaborating
with Wimmera PCP on a Consumer
Engagement Video including sourcing
patient stories and obtaining relevant
patient consent. The video is intended
to be utilised by health services within
the catchment area primarily for staff
education in relation to consumer
engagement.

Develop a regional
leadership culture
that fosters
multidisciplinary and
multi-organisational
collaboration to
promote learning and
the provision of safe,
quality care across
rural and regional
Victoria.

To date, staff have been able to put
the training into practice with several
clients identified as at risk and referred
onwards to appropriate services.

Due to availability of the SIM van, the
second event in Jeparit was unable to be
held within the 2016-17 financial year.

In addition to this, the Service
Improvement Coordinator engaged
Wimmera PCP to run a staff education
session relating to health literacy,
specifically the Teach Back method.
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[CONTINUED]

Domain

Action

Deliverables

Outcomes

Quality and
safety [ctd.]

Use patient feedback,
including the
Victorian Healthcare
Experience Survey
to drive improved
health outcomes and
experiences through
a strong focus on
person and family
centred care in the
planning, delivery and
evaluation of services,
and the development
of new models for
putting patients first.

Utilise consumer
feedback from the
Victorian Healthcare
Experience Survey and
other feedback sources
to identify opportunities
to implement two best
practice models of
person centred care
service delivery - one
each in acute and
primary health that
will improve health
outcomes to services by
30th June 2017.

As a result of the VHES results in
2016/17, particularly in relation to the
areas of discharge information that
patients receive and also their health
literacy, an intensive “Teach Back”
education session for Dental, Nursing
and Allied Health staff was conducted
in conjunction with Wimmera Primary
Care Partnership.

Develop a whole of
hospital approach
to reduce the use of
restrictive practices
for patients, including
seclusion and
restraint.

Audit the incidence of
chemical restraint in
acute and aged care
with the objective of
eliminating medication
use for the purposes of
restraint and ensure the
policy is followed by 30
June 2017.

Plans were established for the two
visiting pharmacists engaged to review
medical practice at West Wimmera
Health Service, to spend time on site
at each aged care facility and to review
the incidence of chemical restraint.

The Service also facilitated a 1 day
education session for senior managers
relating to access and use of the VHES
data in meaningful ways to meet the
needs of consumers. This information
was then presented to the Clinical
Managers meeting in April 2017.

As at 30 June 2017, the pharmacists
had conducted reviews at all West
Wimmera Health Service aged care
facilities, excluding those at Natimuk
and Rupanyup finding no incidences of
chemical restraint and all medication
has been clearly documented
specifically in terms of its intent.

WEST WIMMERA HEALTH SERVICE

Domain

Action

Deliverables

Outcomes

Access and
timelines

Identify opportunities
and implement
pathways to aid
prevention and
increase care
outside hospital
walls by optimising
appropriate use of
existing programs
(i.e. the Health
Independence
Program or
telemedicine).

Implement an integrated
health care plan project
that will include:
i) An Initial Needs
Coordinator working with
allied health professionals
to develop client centred
shared care plans for
community health clients.
ii) Allied health
professionals working
with clients to ensure the
consumer led care plans
and individual goals are
fostered, and clients are
supported to feel engaged
in the self-management of
their health care needs.
This will result in four
integrated health care
plans implemented by the
allied health departments
by 28 February 2017.

Training has been provided to allied
health staff to better equip them to
undertake multi-disciplinary care
planning.

Allied health practitioners
will explore the use of
Skype for consultations
with Endocrinologists.
Aim for an uptake of
at least 10 per cent of
all consultations to be
conducted via Skype by
30 July 2017.

The Service’s Diabetes Educator
now utilises telehealth via RFDS for
Endocrinology specialist appointments.

Develop and implement
a National Disability
and Insurance Scheme
implementation strategy
incorporating the National
Disability and Insurance
Scheme readiness toolkit;
the cost pricing framework;
infrastructure and
resource and marketing
requirements.

The Service has completed the
Australian Disability Enterprise (ADE)
transition project to the National
Disability Insurance Scheme (NDIS),
funded by a successful grant application
to the Commonwealth Department of
Social Services, with ZED Consulting.

Develop and implement
a strategy to ensure
the preparedness of
the organisation for
the National Disability
and Insurance
Scheme and Home
and Community Care
program transition and
reform, with particular
consideration to
service access,
service expectations,
workforce and financial
management.

The strategy will be
complemented by an
Australian Disability
Enterprise Business
Transition Project to be
conducted in late 2016.

Diabetes Education, Dietetics,
Physiotherapy, Occupational Therapy
and Speech Pathology have utilised
multi- disciplinary care plans for
complex needs clients:
Dietetics – 5 multidisciplinary care
plans completed with clients involved in
goal setting.
Occupational Therapy – 6 plans
completed, two involving clients, four
paediatric plans involving input from
parents.
Speech Pathology – 3 multidisciplinary
plans completed with client/carer
involvement.

In the 2016-17 financial year,
seventeen telehealth Endocrinology
consultations were performed.

The Service was successful in an
application for Round 2 of the DSS
ADE NDIS Transition project which will
further expand the implementation
strategy.
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Domain

Action

Deliverables

Outcomes

Supporting
healthy
populations

Support shared
population health and
wellbeing planning
at a local level aligning with the
Local Government
Municipal Public
Health and Wellbeing
plan and working with
other local agencies
and Primary Health
Networks.

Adopt and implement
a health prevention
strategy aimed at
reducing chronic disease
and improving health
and wellbeing within the
catchment by 31 March
2017.

The Service’s 2016/17 Integrated
Health Promotion Plan incorporates the
following priority areas: healthy eating,
physical activity and mental health. These
priorities were set in consultation with
local councils and the Wimmera PCP to
ensure health promotion priorities are
aligned across the sub-region.
The process to appoint a consultant
to conduct a review of primary and
preventative health/health promotion
activities across West Wimmera Health
Service commenced in December
2016. Due to difficulties experienced
in finding a suitable candidate, project
commencement was significantly
delayed.
In addition to this, funding was received
from Western Victoria Primary Health
Network (WVPHN) to undertake a
project targeting clients with chronic
disease.
Funding was also received from WVPHN
to provide counselling for clients
with mild to moderate mental health
conditions, with particular emphasis
on anxiety and depression. The project
commenced 1 November 2016.
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Domain

Action

Supporting
healthy
populations
[ctd.]

Deliverables

Outcomes

Work collaboratively
with the four Local
Government Areas in the
catchment to ensure an
integrated approach to
provision of the strategy.

Consultation has occurred with
Yarriambiack, Hindmarsh & West
Wimmera Shires to provide input into
LGA Health & Wellbeing Plans.
Funding has been received from the
WVPHN for the implementation of a
Chronic Disease Management model
of care.
The Service has also partnered with
other health services in the Wimmera
Southern Mallee Health Alliance and
LGAs to formulate a plan to ensure
CHSP services are maintained in the
region as we progressively transition to
open tendering by June 2019. A final
report from Group was received in May
2017 and is now under consideration.

Focus on primary
prevention, including
suicide prevention
activities, and aim
to impact on large
numbers of people
in the places where
they spend their
time adopting a
place based, whole of
population approach
to tackle the multiple
risk factors of poor
health.

Continue to work with
the Primary Health
Network and other
service providers to
strengthen primary
mental health service
delivery models and
referral pathways.

WWHS is partnering with Edenhope
& District Memorial Hospital (EDMH)
to provide outpatient mental health
services via the social work department.
The program commenced on 1 Nov
2016. A total of 91 occasions of service,
equating to 55.25 hours of service was
delivered as at 30 June 2017.
EDMH are the lead agency in the
project and provide supervision via
their Mental Health qualified Social
Worker.

Provide youth mental
health first aid courses
to four communities
within the catchment by
30 June 2017.

Numerous training sessions were
provided throughout the year by the
Service’s Mental Health First Aid
qualified staff, at Goolum Goolum
Aboriginal Cooperative and at other
sites as required.
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Domain

Action

Deliverables

Outcomes

Supporting
healthy
populations
[ctd.]

Develop and
implement strategies
that encourage
cultural diversity
such as partnering
with culturally
diverse communities,
reflecting the
diversity of your
community in the
organisational

Monitor refugee nurse
and interpreter use by
consumers and aim to
increase use by 25 per
cent.

The new Refugee Health Nurse
commenced employment in February
2017 at 0.4EFT and Interpreter hours
of employment were increased from
0.8EFT to 1.0EFT in December 2016 to
meet demand.
In 2016/17 a total of 525 interpreting
services were provided across Urgent
Care, Acute inpatients, Dental clinic,
Maternal & Child health, radiology and
GP clinic.
In 2016/17 64 refugee health nurse
contacts were provided.
In 2015/16 the interpreter provided
97 occasions of service and the refugee
health nurse 43 occasions of service.
Overall interpreter use by the refugee
community increase by 541% in the
2016-17 financial year as compared
to the previous year. Refugee Health
Nurse usage saw a 33% decrease in the
2016-17 financial year, however the
position was vacant for 6 months while
recruitment for an appropriately skilled
practitioner took place.

Consult with members
of the Karen community
to determine the most
effective way to improve
access for the Karen
community to local
health services.

A meeting with key stakeholders,
including members of the Karen
community was held in March 2017 to
discuss future needs.
Subsequently, a plan was developed to
continue to improve access to services
including shifting the focus towards
prevention.
Mental health including exposure to
trauma and torture, use of betel nut,
decrease in physical activity and family
violence were identified as priority areas.
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Domain

Action

Deliverables

Outcomes

Supporting
healthy
populations
[ctd.]

Improve the
health outcomes
of Aboriginal
and Torres Strait
Islander people by
establishing culturally
safe practices which
recognise and respect
their cultural identities
and safely meets their
needs, expectations
and rights.

Establish links with
Goolum Goolum
Aboriginal Cooperative
and seek feedback on
how West Wimmera
Health Service can
enhance the services it
provides to ensure they
are culturally appropriate
and meet the needs of
Aboriginal and Torres
Strait Islander people.

Contact was made with Goolum
Goolum Aboriginal Cooperative to
discuss arranging local training with the
aim of increasing engagement with the
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
population.

Increase the number of
Aboriginal and Torres
Strait Islander people
accessing allied and
primary health services
by 10 per cent by 30
June 2017.

83 Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
people accessed allied and primary
health services, an increase of 66% on
the previous year.

Monitor, analyse and
implement strategies to
address did not attend
rates of Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander
people accessing allied
health and dental
services.

As a result of discussions with all allied
health staff in relation to engagement
strategies for Aboriginal and Torres
Strait Islander clients, in-service
education occurred and an SMS
reminder system was introduced early
in 2017.

Partner with secondary
schools to provide
mental health programs
that are integrated
with general resilience
building activities to
promote improved
mental health outcomes
by 30 June 2017.

The Service delivered four sessions
across four different schools within the
catchment area.

Drive improvements
to Victoria’s mental
health system
through focus and
engagement in
activity delivering
on the 10 Year Plan
for Mental Health
and active input into
consultations on the
Design, Service and
infrastructure Plan
for Victoria’s Clinical
mental health system.

Due to competing priorities, Goolum
Goolum Aboriginal Cooperative
representatives requested training
discussions be postponed, therefore
impacting the Service’s ability to deliver
an outcome in 2016-17.

394 did not attend instances were
recorded of which 5 (0.62%) of whom
were Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander clients which was a significant
improvement on the previous result.

Mental health incorporated into
‘Guys and Girls’ programs which
were conducted at Nhill, Goroke and
Rainbow secondary schools in early
2017.
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Domain

Action

Supporting
healthy
populations
[ctd.]

Using the
Government’s
Rainbow eQuality
Guide, identify and
adopt ‘actions for
inclusive practices’
and be more
responsive to the
health and wellbeing
of lesbian, gay,
bisexual, transgender
and intersex
individuals and
communities.

Deliverables

Outcomes

By 30 June 2017
increase by 20 per cent
the number of people
from Karen background
accessing social work or
counselling services.

Social work staff have also completed
a basic Karen language course which
lead to a 30% increase in Karen
people accessing direct care Social
Work services. Added to this were
4 fortnightly group sessions held in
collaboration with Nhill Learning
Centre focussing on improving mental
health and wellbeing.

Train a team of staff
members across West
Wimmera Health Service
sites in regard to the
Rainbow eQuality Guide
by 31 March 2017.

West Wimmera Health Service have
embarked on a journey of LGBTI
Inclusiveness having trained two
employees in the multiple elements
that make up the Rainbow eQuality
Guide and the HOW2 program.
These employees will now be able to
assist in the implementation of the
inclusiveness principles to the rest of
the organisation.
In conjunction with the training,
an organisational wide audit was
conducted against the Rainbow Tick
Accreditation Elements identifying
several gaps for which an action plan
has been developed.

Review all patient intake
and assessment forms
to include capacity for
client to identify as
lesbian, gay, bisexual,
transgender or intersex
individuals by 30
October 2016.
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[CONTINUED]

All West Wimmera Health Service
initial intake forms have been amended
enabling capacity for clients to identify
as lesbian gay, bisexual, transgender
or intersex individuals or for clients to
record their gender identity in their
own words.

WEST WIMMERA HEALTH SERVICE

Domain

Action

Deliverables

Outcomes

Governance
and
Leadership

Demonstrate
implementation
of the Victorian
Clinical Governance
Policy Framework:
Governance for the
provision of safe,
quality healthcare
at each level of the
organisation, with
clearly documented and
understood roles and
responsibilities. Ensure
effective integrated
systems, processes and
leadership are in place
to support the provision
of safe, quality,
accountable and person
centred healthcare.
It is an expectation
that health services
implement to best meet
their employees’ and
community’s needs, and
that clinical governance
arrangements undergo
frequent and formal
review, evaluation
and amendment to
drive continuous
improvement.

Review the
organisational Clinical
Governance Policy
to ensure it aligns
with the Victorian
Clinical Governance
Policy Framework
and undertake any
modifications that may
be required as a result
of the current clinical
governance reviews.

The Clinical Governance policy was
updated in January 2017 to reflect
the Victorian Clinical Governance
Policy Framework and to include
recommendations from the Clinical
Governance review conducted by
Crowe Howarth in June 2016.

Review and implement
changes to committee
structure, including
Board sub-committees,
and reporting processes
to ensure transparent
governance processes
across the organisation
are in place by 30
September 2016.

A review of the services committee
structure was conducted which
identified the need to initiate a
Project Control Group at the Board
subcommittee level to oversee all
major capital projects. Such meetings
commenced in June 2017.

Contribute to the
development and
implementation of
Local Region Action
Plans under the
series of statewide
design, service and
infrastructure plans
being progressively
released from 2016 17.

By June 2017 West
Wimmera Health
Service will have
actively contributed to
the development and
implementation of Local
Regional Action Plans and
worked in partnership
and collaboration to
ensure the plans meet
both regional and local
service needs.

Access to Training and Professional
Development

Following the release of the new
Delivering High Quality healthcare,
Victorian Clinical Governance Framework
by Safer Care Victoria in June 2017, a
new draft Clinical Governance policy
has been drafted and an action plan has
been developed.

Relationships have been developed
with Ballarat Health Services who now
provide professional development,
supervision and mentoring for dietetics,
occupational therapy and physiotherapy.
Workforce Planning
The Service has developed a
partnership arrangement with
Edenhope and District Memorial
Hospital in relation to the brokerage
of inpatient and residential aged care
allied health services, adding to CHSP
services already provided.
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Domain

Action

Deliverables

Outcomes

Governance
and
Leadership
[ctd.]

[Ctd.]

[Ctd.]

Regional Approaches to Clinical
Governance
Joint clinical audit meetings are held
every two months with Wimmera
Healthcare Group to discuss transfers,
referrals and other clinical issues.
The Service is now represented by two
executives as members of the regional
clinical governance meetings.
In addition to this, we have formed
a partnership with Ballarat Health
Services for credentialing of the
Executive Director of Medical Services.

Ensure that an
anti- bullying and
harassment policy
exists and includes
the identification of
appropriate behaviour,
internal and external
support mechanisms
for staff and a clear
process for reporting,
investigation,
feedback, consequence
and appeal and the
policy specifies
a regular review
schedule.

30

Review the anti-bullying
and harassment
procedure to ensure it
includes the identification
of appropriate behaviour,
internal and external
support mechanisms
for staff and a clear
process for reporting,
investigation, feedback,
consequence and
appeal mechanism. The
procedure will provide
detail to identify when
the next review will occur.

A review of the Service’s Bullying,
Harassment and Discrimination Policy
was completed and action elements
identified. These actions included
adding a link in the policy to the
Employee Assistance Program and
ensuring the policy is reviewed on a
regular basis by adding a document
review date. Both actions have been
completed.

Establish processes for
the reporting of bullying
and harassment data to
the occupational health
and safety committee bimonthly by 1 November
2016.

Awareness strategies for staff,
promotion of relevant eLearning
obligations for staff and promotion of
the importance of reporting Bullying
and Harassment incidents are now
discussed at staff orientation sessions,
staff meetings and Mandatory
Education days.

In addition to this, an independent
review of workplace culture inclusive
of Bullying, Harassment and
Discrimination was undertaken during
the year with the results of the review
yet to be received.

WEST WIMMERA HEALTH SERVICE

Domain

Action

Deliverables

Outcomes

Governance
and
Leadership
[ctd.]

Board and senior
management ensure
that an organisational
wide occupational
health and safety risk
management approach
is in place which
includes: (1) A focus
on prevention and
the strategies used to
manage risks, including
the regular review of
these controls;

Undertake board of
governance training in
organisational bullying
and harassment and
occupational violence
and aggression by 30
June 2017.

The Victorian Hospitals Industrial
Association (VHIA) provided Board
Directors with an education session on
organisational bullying and harassment
and occupational violence and
aggression in October 2016.

Undertake behaviour
management and
occupational violence
and aggression
training at each
health service site.

One of the Service’s Clinical Educators
undertook additional Occupational
Violence and Aggression Training in
September 2016.

(2) Strategies to
improve reporting of
occupational health
and safety incidents,
risks and controls,
with a particular
focus on prevention
of occupational
violence and bullying
and harassment,
throughout all levels
of the organisation,
including to the board;
and (3) Mechanisms
for consulting with,
debriefing and
communicating with
all staff regarding
outcomes of
investigations and
controls following
occupational violence
and bullying and
harassment incidents.

A Management of Clinical Aggression
(MOCA) Coordinator position has been
created which incorporates a training
component for other staff.
Sixteen Emergency Procedure sessions
were conducted with staff as part of
their mandatory education. Included in
the education was Code Grey response
and the Prevention and Management of
Occupational Violence and Aggression.

Provide ongoing
communiques to staff
including monitoring and
reporting on lost days due
to occupational violence
and aggression and
bullying and harassment,
by 31 March 2017.

Data reported through the
Occupational Health and Safety
Committee with minutes are now
available to all staff on notice boards,
and published on the intranet.

By 31 December
2016, seek external
analysis of occupational
health and safety
management systems to
ascertain best practice
models for reporting,
management and staff
support particularly for
occupational violence
and aggression incidents.

An internal audit was undertaken by
internal auditors Crowe Horwath in
September 2016.
The final report was received in
October 2016 from which an action
plan was developed. These actions
continue to be monitored through
reporting to the Audit and Governance
Committee.
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[CONTINUED]

Domain

Action

Deliverables

Outcomes

Governance
and
Leadership
[ctd.]

Implement and
monitor workforce
plans that: improve
industrial relations;
promote a learning
culture; align with the
Best Practice Clinical
Learning Environment
Framework; promote
effective succession
planning; increase
employment
opportunities for
Aboriginal and Torres
Strait Islander people;
ensure the workforce is
appropriately qualified
and skilled; and support
the delivery of highquality and safe person
centred care.

Develop a five year
workforce plan that
aligns with the new
strategic plan to ensure
appropriately qualified
and skilled staff. This
will include a skills and
qualifications matrix
for all positions across
the organisation and
a forward planning
recruitment strategy
incorporating bursaries
for key positions.

The Service’s Education Coordinator
has finalised a Skills Matrix for all
clinical staff which will be utilized to
inform the development of a workforce
plan into the future, in line with the
direction of the draft Strategic Plan.

Create a workforce
culture that:
(1) includes staff
indecision making;
(2) promotes and
supports open
communication,
raising concerns
and respectful
behaviour across
all levels of the
organisation; and
(3) includes
consumers and
the community.

Assess the outcomes of
the 2016 People Matters
Survey and develop a
response to any issues
identified.

The People Matter Survey’s results
were distributed to staff during
the year. The issue of bullying and
harassment was addressed through the
workplace culture review conducted
in the latter half of the year, the results
of which are yet to be received. The
Service achieved its highest completion
rate during the year for the 2017
survey.

Covered by the independent workplace
Conduct at least one
culture review conducted during
strategic workforce
the year.
culture planning and
ideas session per site
with staff and consumers
by 30 April 2017.

WEST WIMMERA HEALTH SERVICE

Domain

Action

Deliverables

Outcomes

Governance
and
Leadership
[ctd.]

Ensure that the
Victorian Child
Safe Standards are
embedded in everyday
thinking and practice
to better protect
children from abuse,
which includes the
implementation of:
strategies to embed an
organisational culture
of child safety; a child
safe policy or statement
of commitment to
child safety; a code of
conduct that establishes
clear expectations for
appropriate behaviour
with children; screening,
supervision, training
and other human
resources practices
that reduce the risk of
child abuse; processes
for responding to and
reporting suspected
abuse of children;
strategies to identify
and reduce or remove
the risk of abuse and
strategies to promote
the participation and
empowerment of
children.

Undertake a selfassessment gap analysis
against the Victorian
Child Safe Standards by
31 October 2016 and
update policies where
required to ensure
they are compliant by
November 2016.

A gap analysis was undertaken by
the Maternal and Child Health Nurse
which was completed in October
2016. A subsequent action plan was
developed to ensure alignment with
each standard.

Implement a training
program for relevant
staff in regard to the
Victorian Child Safe
Standards to ensure
staff are confident to
appropriately identify
and report suspected
child abuse.

Training was provided to all clinical
staff in relation to the Victorian Child
Safe Standards ensuring all staff feel
confident identifying and reporting
instances of suspected child abuse.

Implement policies
and procedures to
ensure patient facing
staff have access to
vaccination programs
and are appropriately
vaccinated and/or
immunised to protect
staff and prevent
the transmission of
infection to susceptible
patients or people in
their care.

Modify the infection
control - staff health
policy to make signing
a consent or refusal to
consent form for influenza
vaccination mandatory by
31 March 2017.

In 2017 infection control was
modified to ensure that all staff
either had the influenza vaccination
or signed a refusal form. As of June
30 2017, 87% of all Service staff has
either had the vaccination or had
signed a refusal form.

Conduct education
sessions aimed at
increasing staff
knowledge and
awareness regarding the
benefits of vaccination.

Advertising, awareness and reminders for
staff were provided in the following ways;
• Staff newsletter adverts
• Employee Self Service automated
weekly reminders to staff
• Weekly reports to Managers
indicating staff outstanding.

KPI’s were introduced to measure
the percentage of paediatric referrals
from Maternal and Child Health to
Primary and Preventative Health
who have initial contact with a health
professional within 48 hours of referral.
In addition to this, child safe policies
and protocols were introduced in June
2017 to ensure compliance.
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Domain

Action

Financial
Further enhance
sustainability cash management
strategies to improve
cash sustainability
and meet financial
obligations as they
are due.
Actively contribute to
the implementation
of the Victorian
Government’s policy
to be net zero carbon
by 2050 and improve
environmental
sustainability by
identifying and
implementing projects,
including workforce
education, to reduce
material environmental
impacts with particular
consideration of
procurement and
waste management,
and publicly reporting
environmental
performance data,
including measureable
targets related to
reduction of clinical,
sharps and landfill
waste, water and
energy use and
improved recycling

34

[CONTINUED]

Deliverables

Outcomes

Monitor daily cash
flow to ensure financial
obligations are met as
they are due.

Cash flow monitored on a daily basis
with the Service’s creditors days
now very low particularly after the
introduction of EFT payments to
suppliers.

Implement plastics and
cardboard recycling
bins within reasonable
distance to all work
areas to dispose of
recyclable waste by 30
June 2017.

Recycling bins have been deployed
to all staff dining areas at all West
Wimmera Health Service sites.
Subsequently, a gap analysis was
completed and revealed no areas that
were without a recycling service.

Introduce 20 iPads to
middle managers to
eliminate paper usage in
meetings and reporting.
This is anticipated to
save 20,000 pages of
paper by 30 June 2017.

In 2016/17, Thirty iPads were deployed
to Board Directors, Nursing Directors,
Managers, Community Care and TAC
staff.
It is estimated that approximately
50,000 pages of paper per year were
saved through the use of the newly
deployed iPads. This is on top of the
estimated 20,000 pages already being
saved through Board Members and
Executive staff using iPads.
The financial savings are not large
however this equates to a significant
reduction in the size of the Service’s
environmental footprint.

WEST WIMMERA HEALTH SERVICE

STATEMENT OF PRIORITIES
PART B: PERFORMANCE
PRIORITIES
Quality and Safety
Key performance indicator

Target

2016–17 Actual

Compliance with NSQHS Standards accreditation

Full compliance

Achieved

Compliance with the Commonwealth’s Aged Care
Accreditation Standards

Full compliance

Achieved

Full compliance

Achieved

Very high risk (Category A)

90 Points

100%

High risk (Category B)

85 Points

98%

Moderate risk (Category C)

85 Points

98%

Full compliance

Achieved

Compliance with the Hand Hygiene Australia program

80%

86.6%

Percentage of healthcare workers immunised for influenza

75%

87%

Full compliance

Achieved

Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey – patient experience
Quarter 1

95% positive
experience

97%

Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey – patient experience
Quarter 2

95% positive
experience

97%

Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey – patient experience
Quarter 3

95% positive
experience

Full Compliance*

Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey – discharge care
Quarter 1

75% very positive
response

94%

Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey – discharge care
Quarter 2

75% very positive
response

94%

Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey – discharge care
Quarter 3

75% very positive
response

Full Compliance*

Accreditation

Infection prevention and control
Compliance with cleaning standards

Submission of infection surveillance data to VICNISS1

Patient experience
Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey - data submission

*Less than 42 responses were received for the period due to the relative size of the Health Service.
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PRIORITIES
[CONTINUED]

Governance and Leadership
Key performance indicator

Target

2016–17 Actual

80%

94%

Target

2016–17 Actual

0.05

0.004

Trade creditors

60 days

22 days

Patient fee debtors

60 days

37 days

0.7

0.9

14 days

59 days

Full compliance

Achieved

People Matter Survey - percentage of staff with a positive response
to safety culture questions

Financial Sustainability
Key performance indicator
Finance
Operating result ($m)

Adjusted current asset ratio
Number of days with available cash
Asset management
Basic asset management plan
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WEST WIMMERA HEALTH SERVICE

STATEMENT OF
PRIORITIES PART C:
ACTIVITY AND FUNDING
Funding type

Activity

Small Rural
Small Rural Primary Health

(Hours of Service)

•

Allied Health

9,192

•

Nursing

4,693

Small Rural Residential Care

(Bed days)
49,650

Small Rural HACC

(Hours of Service)

•

Occupational Therapy

882

•

Physiotherapy

251

•

Podiatry

81

•

Nursing

520

•

Planned Activity Group

•

Counselling

•

Dietetics

417

•

Speech Therapy

151

Health Workforce
Other specified funding

1,879
0

8 Nurse Graduates
2,162 Hours of Service
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DISCLOSURE INDEX
The annual report of West Wimmera Health Service is prepared in accordance with all relevant Victorian
legislation. This index has been prepared to facilitate identification of the Service’s compliance with statutory
disclosure requirements.

GOVERNANCE AND LEADERSHIP
Legislation

Requirement

Page
Reference

Ministerial Directions
Report of Operations
Charter and Purpose
FRD 22H

Manner of establishment and the relevant Ministers

3

FRD 22H

Purpose, functions, powers and duties

3

FRD 22H

Initiatives and key achievements

FRD 22H

Nature and range of services provided

13
5

Management and Structure
FRD 22H

Organisational Structure

7

Financial and other Information

38

FRD 10A

Disclosure index

38

FRD 11A

Disclosure of ex-gratia payments

12

FRD 21C

Responsible person and executive officer disclosures

72

FRD 22H

Application and operation of Protected Disclosures 2012

40

FRD 22H

Application and operation of Carers Recognition Act 2012

40

FRD 22H

Application and operation of Freedom of Information Act 1982

40

FRD 22H

Compliance with building and maintenance provisions of Building Act 1993

40

FRD 22H

Details of consultancies over $10,000

12

FRD 22H

Details of consultancies under $10,000

12

FRD 22H

Employment and conduct principles

FRD 22H

Information and Communication Technology Expenditure

12

FRD 22H

Major changes to factors affecting performance

10

FRD 22H

Occupational Health and Safety

18

FRD 22H

Operational and budgetary objectives and performance against objectives

10

FRD 22H

Summary of the entity’s environmental performance

41

9
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Page
Reference

Legislation

Requirement

FRD 22H

Significant changes in financial position during the year

10

FRD 22H

Statement on national competition policy

41

FRD 22H

Subsequent events

10

FRD 22H

Summary of the financial results for the year

11

FRD 22H

Additional information available on request

42

FRD 22H

Workforce Data Disclosures including a statement on the application of
employment and conduct principles

FRD 25C

Victorian Industry Participation Policy disclosures

12

FRD 103F

Non-Financial Physical Assets

58

FRD 110A

Cash Flow Statements

47

FRD 112D

Defined Benefit Superannuation Obligations

53

SD 5.2.3

Declaration in report of operations

SD 3.7.1

Risk management framework and processes

9

3
43

Other requirements under Standing Directions 5.2
SD 5.2.2

Declaration in financial statements

45

SD 5.2.1(a)

Compliance with Australian accounting standards and other
authoritative pronouncements

48

SD 5.2.1(a)

Compliance with Ministerial Directions

48

Legislation
Freedom of Information Act 1982

40

Protected Disclosures Act 2012

40

Carers Recognition Act 2012

40

Victorian Industry Participation Policy Act 2003

12

Building Act 1993

40

Financial Management Act 1994

48

Safe Patient Care Act 2015

43

Non Statutory Obligations
Reporting of compliance regarding Car Parking Fees

N/A

Occupational Violence reporting

18

Reporting of compliance with DataVic Access policy

43

Reporting of compliance Health Purchasing Victoria policy

43

Reporting obligations under the Safe Patient Care Act 2015

43

Reporting of outcomes from Statement of Priorities 2016-17

20
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COMPLIANCE
WITH LEGISLATION
Occupational Health and Safety Matters
Considering the safety of individuals first in
everything that we do is a core objective of West
Wimmera Health Service in meeting its obligations
of the Occupational Health and Safety Act 2004 and
the Occupational Health and Safety Regulations 2007.
Staff and contractor safety sits side by side the
safety of patients and clients.

Service received 13 requests for information under
the Freedom of Information Act (1982) during the
2016-17 financial year, an increase of 6 on the
previous financial year.
From the 13 requests:
• 9 cases access was granted in full;
• 2 cases no documents were available; and
• 2 cases the requests were not proceeded with.
Protected Disclosure Act 2012

Building and Maintenance
In accordance with the Building Regulations 2006,
made under the Building Act 1993, all buildings are
within the Service are classified according to their
functions.
West Wimmera Health Service undertakes an
extensive Essential Services Maintenance Program
to ensure that all regulatory requirements and
safety standards in regard to plant and equipment,
buildings and Fire Management systems are
maintained.
A comprehensive preventative maintenance
program ensures that key infrastructure equipment
such as generators, lifting equipment, heating
ventilation and cooling systems and fire detection
and management systems are maintained at the
highest level and available 365 days a year.
Building Permits are obtained for all construction
projects where required and Certificates of
Occupancy are issued and displayed accordingly.
All builders and contractors involved in building
construction are registered practitioners.
In 2016/17 there were no projects that were
completed with a certificate of occupancy issued.
Freedom of Information
The Chief Executive Officer as the Freedom of
Information Officer of West Wimmera Health

40

West Wimmera Health Service is committed to the
objectives of the Protected Disclosure Act 2012 (the
Act) and addresses this through the application of
its Protected Disclosure Policy.
We recognise the value of transparency and
accountability in our administrative and
management practices, and support the making of
disclosures that reveal corrupt conduct, conduct
involving a substantial mismanagement of public
resources, or conduct involving a substantial risk to
public health and safety or the environment.
During 2016/17 the Service was not advised of any
Public Disclosures under the Act.
Carers Recognition Act 2012
West Wimmera Health Service recognises,
promotes and values the role of people in care
relationships.
We understand the varying needs of those in
care relationships and that developing these
relationships benefits individual patients, carers and
the community as a whole.
All practical measures are taken to ensure that
our employees, agents and carers have a clear
awareness and understanding of the principles of
care relationships as reflected by our commitment
to the patient and family centred model of care that
encourages carer involvement in the development
of care plans, the provision of care and the

WEST WIMMERA HEALTH SERVICE

evaluation of support and assistance for people in
care relationships.
Competitive Neutrality Policy Victoria
All competitive neutrality requirements were
met in accordance with the requirements of
the Government policy statement, Competitive
Neutrality Policy Victoria and subsequent reforms.
Environmental Performance and Sustainability
West Wimmera Health Service is committed to
being a responsible environmental custodian
through the appropriate use of energy resources at
the same time as meeting the needs of all patients,
residents and staff.

replacing incandescent and fluorescent lighting. In
addition this initiative has reduced maintenance
time spent replacing lighting over a 12-month
period.
Electricity savings have also been improved through
forcing all computers throughout the Service into
sleep mode after 90 minutes of being idle.
Water
Over the last 12 months, the Service has again been
able to save water; two percent less water (424 kl)
has been used throughout the Service. Much of the
water saving is due to harvesting water from the roof
area of buildings for use instead of mains water.
LPG

West Wimmera Health Service made a modest
reduction in electricity consumption during 201617 of 127,564 kWh (4.44%).

Liquid Petroleum Gas use increased in the last
12 months by 14% or 32,638 Litres. In part this
increase has been as a result of construction works
on one of the campuses that caused an increased
demand on gas fired boilers.

The installation of LED lighting has been a simple
but effective method of saving electricity and
improving the level of light. In excess of 500 new
LED lights have been installed across the Service

LPG gas usage is envisaged to decrease in 201718 with the installation of a new efficient Heating
Ventilation and Cooling System on the Nhill site and
the end of the construction works.

Electricity
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
AVAILABLE ON REQUEST

Consistent with FRD 22H (Section 5.19) the report
of operations confirms that details in respect of
the items listed below have been retained by West
Wimmera Health Service and are available to the
relevant Ministers, Members of Parliament and
the public on request (subject to the freedom of
information requirements, if applicable):

(g) Details of overseas visits undertaken including a
summary of the objectives and outcomes of each
visit;

(a) Declarations of pecuniary interests have been
duly completed by all relevant officers

(i) Details of assessments and measures
undertaken to improve the occupational health
and safety of employees;

(b) Details of shares held by senior officers as
nominee or held beneficially;
(c) Details of publications produced by the entity
about itself, and how these can be obtained
(d) Details of changes in prices, fees, charges, rates
and levies charged by the Health Service;
(e) Details of any major external reviews carried out
on the Health Service;
(f) Details of major research and development
activities undertaken by the Health Service that
are not otherwise covered either in the report
of operations or in a document that contains the
financial statements and report of operations;
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(h) Details of major promotional, public relations
and marketing activities undertaken by the
Health Service to develop community awareness
of the Health Service and its services;

(j) A general statement on industrial relations
within the Health Service and details of time
lost through industrial accidents and disputes,
which is not otherwise detailed in the report of
operations;
(k) A list of major committees sponsored by the
Health Service, the purposes of each committee
and the extent to which those purposes have
been achieved;
(l) Details of all consultancies and contractors
including consultants/contractors engaged,
services provided, and expenditure committed
for each engagement.

WEST WIMMERA HEALTH SERVICE

ATTESTATIONS

Attestation for compliance with the Ministerial Standing Direction 3.7.1 – Risk Management
Framework and Processes.
I, Ritchie Dodds certify that West Wimmera Health Service has complied with Ministerial Direction 3.7.1
– Risk Management Framework and Processes. The West Wimmera Health Service Audit and Governance
Committee has verified this.

Ritchie Dodds
Acting Chief Executive Ofﬁcer
West Wimmera Health Service
16 August 2017

Attestation on Compliance with Health Purchasing Victoria (HPV) Health Purchasing Policies
I, Ritchie Dodds certify that West Wimmera Health Service has put in place appropriate internal controls
and processes to ensure that it has complied with all requirements set out in the HPV Health Purchasing
Policies including mandatory HPV collective agreements as required by the Health Services Act 1988 (Vic)
and has critically reviewed these controls and processes during the year.

Ritchie Dodds
Acting Chief Executive Ofﬁcer
West Wimmera Health Service
16 August 2017

Compliance with DataVic Access Policy
Consistent with the DataVic Access Policy issued by the Victorian Government in 2012, the information
included in this Annual Report will be available at http://www.data.vic.gov.au/ in machine readable format.

Safe Patient Care Act 2015
The Service has no matters to report in relation to its obligations under section 40 of the Safe Patient Care
Act 2015.
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WEST WIMMERA HEALTH SERVICE

West Wimmera Health Service

Board member’s, accountable officer’s and chief finance & accounting
officer’s declaration
The attached financial statements for West Wimmera Health Service have been prepared in accordance with
Direction 5.2 of the Standing Directions of the Minister for Finance under the Financial Management Act
1994, applicable Financial Reporting Directions, Australian Accounting Standards including Interpretations,
and other mandatory professional reporting requirements.
We further state that, in our opinion, the information set out in the comprehensive operating statement,
balance sheet, statement of changes in equity, cash flow statement and accompanying notes, presents
fairly the financial transactions during the year ended 30 June 2017 and the financial position of West
Wimmera Health Service at 30 June 2017.
At the time of signing, we are not aware of any circumstance which would render any particulars included in
the financial statements to be misleading or inaccurate.
We authorise the attached financial statements for issue on 29 August 2017.

Leonie Clarke
Board President

29 August 2017

Ritchie Dodds
Accountable Officer
and Chief Finance &
Accounting Officer
29 August 2017
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West Wimmera Health Service
Comprehensive Operating Statement
For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2017
Note

2017
$'000

2016
$'000

Revenue from operating activities
Revenue from non-operating activities
Employee expenses
Non salary labour costs
Supplies and consumables
Other expenses
Net result before capital and specific items

2.1
2.1
3.1
3.1
3.1
3.1

41,277
422
(31,289)
(2,113)
(2,571)
(5,722)
4

35,948
389
(26,170)
(1,821)
(2,405)
(5,423)
518

Capital purpose income
Depreciation
Finance costs
Net Result after capital and specific items

2.1
4.4
3.2

3,089
(4,361)
(36)
(1,304)

2,215
(3,785)
(29)
(1,081)

Other economic flows included in net result
Revaluation of leave entitlements
Total other economic flows included in net result

223
223

NET RESULT FOR THE YEAR

-

(1,081)

(1,081)

2017
$'000

2016
$'000

This Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
Balance Sheet
As at 30 June 2017
Note
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Investments
Inventories
Prepayments and Other assets
Total current assets
Non-current assets
Receivables
Property, plant & equipment
Total non-current assets
TOTAL ASSETS
Current liabilities
Payables
Borrowings
Provisions
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Provisions
Total non-current liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES
NET ASSETS
EQUITY
Property, plant & equipment revaluation surplus
Contributed capital
Accumulated surpluses/(deficits)
TOTAL EQUITY
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities
Commitments
This Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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6.1
5.1
4.1
5.2
5.4

15,632
1,050
2,000
83
118
18,883

12,531
761
92
280
13,664

5.1
4.3

2,430
62,514
64,944
83,827

2,641
59,448
62,089
75,753

5.5
6.3
3.3
5.3

994
65
9,632
10,530
21,221

1,424
8,258
6,786
16,468

3.3

1,022
1,022
22,243
61,584

1,104
1,104
17,572
58,181

35,891
27,808
(2,115)
61,584

31,993
25,924
264
58,181

8.1a
8.1b
8.1c
8.1c
7.3
6.2

WEST WIMMERA HEALTH SERVICE

West Wimmera Health Service
Statement of Changes in Equity
For the Year Ended 30 June 2017
Property,
Plant &
Equipment
Revaluation
Surplus

Balance at 1 July 2015
Net result for the year
Balance at 30 June 2016
Effect of amalgamation with Dunmunkle Health Services
Net result for the year
Balance at 30 June 2017

$'000
31,993
31,993
3,898
35,891

Contributions
by owners

Accumulated
Surpluses/
(Deficits)

Total

$'000
25,924
25,924
1,884
27,808

$'000
1,345
(1,081)
264
(1,298)
(1,081)
(2,115)

$'000
59,262
(1,081)
58,181
4,484
(1,081)
61,584

Note

2017
$'000

2016
$'000

23,274
1,995
16,031
520
850
322
343
2,471
45,806
(30,776)
(1,902)
(9,701)
(36)
(42,415)

19,889
1,084
13,593
24
674
307
1,091
1,812
38,474
(25,296)
(1,607)
(8,634)
(29)
(35,566)

Cash Flow Statement
For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating grants from government
Capital grants from government
Patient and resident fees received
Donations and bequests received
GST received from/(paid to) ATO
Interest received
Other capital receipts
Other receipts
Total receipts
Employee expenses paid
Non salary labour costs
Payments for supplies & consumables
Finance costs
Total payments
NET CASH FLOW FROM/(USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES

3,391

2,908

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of investments
Payments for non-financial assets
Proceeds from sale of non-financial assets
NET CASH FLOW FROM/(USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES

(2,000)
(2,212)
208
(4,004)

(1,683)
414
(1,269)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Repayment of borrowings
NET CASH FLOW FROM/(USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES

(130)
(130)

-

(743)
6,202
5,459

1,639
4,563
6,202

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS HELD
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF FINANCIAL YEAR

8.2

6.1

This Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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WEST WIMMERA HEALTH SERVICE
West Wimmera Health Service
Notes to the Financial Statements
30 June 2017

Basis of presentation
These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and the historical cost convention is used unless a different measurement basis is
specifically disclosed in the note associated with the item measured on a different basis.
The accrual basis of accounting has been applied in the preparation of these financial statements whereby assets, liabilities, equity, income and
expenses are recognised in the reporting period to which they relate, regardless of when cash is received or paid.
Consistent with the requirements of AASB 1004, contributions (that is contributed capital and its repayment) are treated as equity transactions and,
therefore, do not form part of the income and expenses of the Service.
Additions to net assets which have been designated as contributions by owners are recognised as contributed capital. Other transfers that are in the
nature of contributions to or distributions by owners have also been designated as contributions by owners.
Transfers of net assets arising from administrative restructurings are treated as distributions to or contributions by owners. Transfer of net liabilities
arising from administrative restructurings are treated as distributions to owners.
Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about financial information being presented. The significant judgements made in the
preparation of these financial statements are disclosed in the notes where amounts affected by those judgements are disclosed. Estimates and
associated assumptions are based on professional judgements derived from historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and also future periods that are affected by the
revision. Judgements and assumptions made by management in applying the application of AASBs that have a significant effect on the financial
statements and estimates are disclosed in the notes under the heading: 'Significant judgements or estimates'.

Note 1: Summary of significant accounting policies
These annual financial statements represent the audited general purpose financial statements for West Wimmera Health Service "the Service" for the
period ending 30 June 2017. The report provides users with information about the Service's stewardship of resources entrusted to it.

(a) Statement of compliance
These financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with the Financial Management Act 1994
and applicable AASs, which include interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB). They are presented in a manner
consistent with the requirements of AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements.
The financial statements also comply with relevant Financial Reporting Directions (FRDs) issued by the Department of Treasury & Finance, and relevant
Standing Directions (SDs) authorised by the Minister for Finance.
The Service is a not-for profit entity and therefore applies the additional Aus paragraphs applicable to “not-for-profit” health services under the AASs.
These annual financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of West Wimmera Health Service on 29 August 2017.

(b) Reporting entity
The principal address of West Wimmera Health Service is:
47 Nelson Street
Nhill
Victoria 3418
A description of the nature of the Service's operations and its principal activities is included in the Report of Operations, which does not form part of
these financial statements.
Objectives and funding
West Wimmera Health Service's overall objective is to deliver health, welfare and disability services which are compassionate, responsive, accessible
and accountable to individual consumer needs, as well as to improving the quality of life of Victorians.
The Service is predominantly funded by accrual based grant funding for the provision of outputs.

(c) Basis of accounting preparation and measurement
Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner which ensures that the resulting financial information satisfies the concepts of relevance and
reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of the underlying transactions or other events is reported.
The accounting policies set out below have been applied in preparing the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2017, and the comparative
information presented in these financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2016.
The going concern basis was used to prepare the financial statements.
These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, the functional and presentation currency of the Service.
The financial statements, except for cash flow information, have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis, items
are recognised as assets, liabilities, equity, income or expenses when they satisfy the definitions and recognition criteria for those items, that is they
are recognised in the reporting period to which they relate, regardless of when cash is received or paid.
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention, except for the fair value of assets other than land non-current
physical assets, which subsequent to acquisition, are measured at a revalued amount being their fair value at the date of the revaluation less any
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent impairment losses. Revaluations are made and are re-assessed when new indices are published
by the Valuer General to ensure that the carrying amounts do not materially differ from their fair values.
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Note 1 (cont.)

c) Basis of accounting preparation and measurement (cont.)
Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on professional judgements derived from historical experience and various
other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and also in future periods that are affected by the
revision. Judgements and assumptions made by management in the application of AASBs that have significant effects on the financial statements and
estimates relate to:
- the fair value of land, buildings, infrastructure, plant and equipment, (refer to Note 4.3);
- superannuation expense (refer to Note 3.4);
- actuarial assumptions for employee benefit provisions based on likely tenure of existing staff, patterns of leave claims, future salary
movements and future discount rates (refer to Note 3.3); and
Intersegment Transactions
Transactions between segments within West Wimmera Health Service are not considered to be sufficiently material to be required to be eliminated to
reflect the extent of the Service's operations as a group.
Amalgamation with Dunmunkle Health Services
Assets and liabilities of acquired (amalgamated) health services are taken up at book value at date of acquisition (amalgamation). Crown assets
acquired remain the property of the Crown, however they are reported as assets of the Service, because effective control passes to the Service along
with a substantial benefit.
West Wimmera Health Service and Dunmunkle Health Services amalgamated into a single entity with effect from 1 July 2016 so that Dunmunkle
Health Services was effectively acquired by West Wimmera Health Service on that date. Accordingly, all assets, rights, liabilities and responsibilities of
Dunmunkle Health Services became those of West Wimmera Health Service on 1 July 2016. Where indicated, various notes in these accounts have
been adjusted to take into account the effect of the amalgamation on the financial statements.

Note: 2 Funding the delivery of our services
To enable the Service to fulfil its objectives it receives income based on parliamentary appropriations. The Service also receives income from the
supply of services.

Structure of Note 2
2.1 Analysis of revenue by source

Note 2.1: Analysis of Revenue by Source
Admitted
Patients
2017
$'000
Government Grants
Indirect contributions by Department of Health
and Human Services
Patient and Resident Fees
Donations and Bequests
Other Revenue from Operating Activities
Total Revenue from Operating Activities
Interest
Property Rental
Total Revenue from Non-Operating Activities
Capital Purpose Income
Total Capital Purpose Income
Total Revenue

Government Grants
Indirect contributions by Department of Health
and Human Services
Patient and Resident Fees
Donations and Bequests
Other Revenue from Operating Activities
Total Revenue from Operating Activities
Interest
Property Rental
Total Revenue from Non-Operating Activities
Capital Purpose Income
Total Capital Purpose Income
Total Revenue
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NonAdmitted
Patients
2017
$'000

RAC incl.
Mental Aged Care
Health
2017
2017
$'000
$'000

Primary
Health

Other

Total

2017
$'000

2017
$'000

2017
$'000

1,152

13,431

1,343

3,171

1,188

2,983

1,348

1,227

12,961

72

98

159
14,938

140
2,710

162
16,294

27
1,287

16
3,097

-

-

-

-

-

14,938

2,710

16,294

1,287

3,097

(225)

Admitted
Patients

NonAdmitted

2016
$'000

2016
$'000

RAC incl.
Mental Aged Care
Health
2016
2016
$'000
$'000

23,268
(225)

422
520
1,082
2,951

16,128
520
1,586
41,277

322
100
422
3,089
3,089
6,462

322
100
422
3,089
3,089
44,788

Primary
Health

Other

Total

2016
$'000

2016
$'000

2016
$'000

11,821

918

2,424

984

2,252

1,204

-

-

-

-

-

1,099

19,603
1,099

1,078

681

11,123

52

66

258
13,157

114
1,713

219
13,766

25
1,061

43
2,361

462
24
1,101
3,890

13,462
24
1,760
35,948

-

-

-

-

-

13,157

1,713

13,766

1,061

2,361

319
70
389
2,215
2,215
6,494

319
70
389
2,215
2,215
38,552

WEST WIMMERA HEALTH SERVICE

West Wimmera Health Service
Notes to the Financial Statements
30 June 2017

Note 2.1: Analysis of Revenue by Source (cont.)
The Department of Health and Human Services makes long service leave and insurance contributions on behalf of the Service. These amounts have
been brought to account in determining the operating result for the year by recording them as revenue and expenses.
Income is recognised in accordance with AASB 118 Revenue and is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to
the Service and the income can be reliably measured at fair value. Unearned income at reporting date is reported as income received in advance.
Amounts disclosed as revenue are where applicable, net of returns, allowances and duties and taxes.
Government Grants and other transfers of income (other than contributions by owners)
In accordance with AASB 1004 Contributions , government grants and other transfers of income (other than contributions by owners) are recognised as
income when the Service gains control of the underlying assets irrespective of whether conditions are imposed on the Service’s use of the
contributions.
Contributions are deferred as income in advance when the Service has a present obligation to repay them and the present obligation can be reliably
measured.
Indirect Contributions from the Department of Health and Human Services
- Insurance is recognised as revenue following advice from the Department of Health and Human Services.
- Long Service Leave (LSL) – Revenue is recognised upon finalisation of movements in the LSL liability in line with the arrangements set out in the
Metropolitan Health and Aged Care Services Division Hospital Circular 04/2017.
Patient and Resident Fees
Patient fees are recognised as revenue at the time invoices are raised.
Donations and Other Bequests
Donations and bequests are recognised as revenue when received. If donations are for a special purpose, they may be appropriated to a surplus, such
as the specific restricted purpose surplus.
Interest Revenue
Interest revenue is recognised on a time proportionate basis that takes into account the effective yield of the financial asset, which allocates interest
over the relevant period.
Other income
Other income includes non-property rental, dividends, forgiveness of liabilities, and bad debt reversals.
Category groups
The Service has used the following category groups for reporting purposes for the current and previous financial years.
Admitted Patient Services (Admitted Patients) comprises all acute and subacute admitted patient services, where services are delivered in public
hospitals.
Non Admitted Services comprises acute and subacute non admitted services, where services are delivered in public hospital clinics and provide models
of integrated community care, which significantly reduces the demand for hospital beds and supports the transition from hospital to home in a safe and
timely manner.
Aged Care comprises a range of in home, specialist geriatric, residential care and community based programs and support services, such as Home and
Community Care (HACC) that are targeted to older people, people with a disability, and their carers.
Primary, Community and Dental Health comprises a range of home based, community based, community, primary health and dental services including
health promotion and counselling, physiotherapy, speech therapy, podiatry and occupational therapy and a range of dental health services.
Residential Aged Care including Mental Health (RAC incl. Mental Health) referred to in the past as psychogeriatric residential services, comprises those
Commonwealth-licensed residential aged care services in receipt of supplementary funding from the department under the mental health program. It
excludes all other residential services funded under the mental health program, such as mental health funded community care units and secure
extended care units.
Other Services not reported elsewhere - (Other) comprises services not separately classified above, including: Public Health Services including
immunisation and screening services, Disability services including aids and equipment and flexible support packages to people with a disability,
Community Care programs, early parenting services, parenting assessment and skills development, and various support services. Health and
Community Initiatives also falls in this category group.
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Note 3: The cost of delivering our services
This section provides an account of the expenses incurred by the Service in delivering services and outputs. In Section 2, the funds that enable the
provision of services were disclosed and in this note the costs associated with the provision of those services and outputs are recorded.

Structure of Note 3

3.1
3.2
3.3
3.4

Analysis of expenses by source
Finance costs
Provisions
Superannuation

Note 3.1: Analysis of Expenses by Source

Employee Expenses
Non Salary Labour Costs
Supplies and Consumables
Other Expenses
Total Expenditure from Operating
Activities

Admitted
Patients

NonAdmitted

2017
$'000
8,389
1,327
1,414
2,204

2017
$'000
2,494
9
57
413

Employee Expenses
Non Salary Labour Costs
Supplies and Consumables
Other Expenses
Total Expenditure from Operating
Activities
Finance Costs (refer note 3.2)
Depreciation (refer note 4.4)
Total other expenses
Total Expenses

Primary
Health

Other

Total

2017
$'000
2,950
67
371

2017
$'000
1,804
646
522
758

2017
$'000
31,289
2,113
2,571
5,722

13,334

2,973

16,609

1,661

3,388

3,730

41,695

-

-

-

-

-

36
4,361
4,397

36
4,361
4,397

13,334

2,973

16,609

1,661

3,388

8,127

46,092

Finance Costs (refer note 3.2)
Depreciation (refer note 4.4)
Total other expenses
Total Expense

RAC incl.
Aged Care
Mental
Other
Health
2017
2017
$'000
$'000
14,445
1,207
131
473
38
1,560
416

Admitted
Patients

NonAdmitted

2016
$'000
7,272
1,084
1,240
2,080

2016
$'000
1,153
43
223

RAC incl.
Aged Care
Mental
Other
Health
2016
2016
$'000
$'000
12,735
893
78
397
30
1,376
515

Primary
Health

Other

Total

2016
$'000
2,172
72
449

2016
$'000
1,945
659
623
780

2016
$'000
26,170
1,821
2,405
5,423

11,676

1,419

14,586

1,438

2,693

4,007

35,819

1,253
1,253

151
151

1,523
1,523

156
156

286
286

29
416
445

29
3,785
3,814

12,929

1,570

16,109

1,594

2,979

4,452

39,633

Expenses are recognised as they are incurred and reported in the financial year to which they relate.
Employee expenses
Employee expenses include wages and salaries fringe benefits tax, leave entitlements, WorkCover premiums and superannuation expenses which are
reported differently depending upon whether employees are members of defined benefit or defined contribution plans.
Non salary labour costs
Non salary labour costs primarily relate to contracted visiting medical officers.
Other operating expenses
Other operating expenses generally represent the day-to-day running costs incurred in normal operations that are not included in Employee Expenses,
Non Salary Labour Costs or Supplies and Consumables.
Supplies and consumables
Supplies and services costs which are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are incurred. The carrying amounts of any
inventories held for distribution are expensed when distributed.
Bad and doubtful debts
Refer to Note 4.1 Investments and other financial assets.
Revaluation gains / (losses) of non-financial physical assets
Refer to Note 4.3 Property plant and equipment.
Borrowing costs
In accordance with the paragraphs of AASB 123 Borrowing Costs applicable to not-for-profit public sector entities, the Service continues to recognise
borrowing costs immediately as an expense, to the extent that they are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a
qualifying asset.
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Note 3.1: Analysis of Expenses by Source (cont.)
Net gain/ (loss) on disposal of non-financial assets
Any gain or loss on the disposal of non-financial assets is recognised at the date of disposal and is the difference between the proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset at the time.
Other gains/ (losses) from other economic flows
Other economic flows are changes in the volume or value of assets or liabilities that do not result from transactions. Other gains/ (losses) include the
revaluation of the present value of the long service leave liability due to changes in the bond rate movements, inflation rate movements and the
impact of changes in probability factors.

Note 3.2: Finance Costs

Interest on Unpaid Refundable Residential Aged Care Deposits
Total Finance Costs

2017
$'000
36
36

2016
$'000
29
29

Finance costs are recognised as expenses in the period in which they are incurred and relate to interest on residential aged care accommodation bonds
and deposits payable.

Note 3.3: Provisions (employee benefits in the balance sheet)
2017
$'000

2016
$'000

2,900
486

2,479
412

Current Provisions
Employee Benefits
Annual leave
- Unconditional and expected to be settled wholly within 12 months
- Unconditional and expected to be settled wholly after 12 months
Long service leave
- Unconditional and expected to be settled wholly within 12 months
- Unconditional and expected to be settled wholly after 12 months
Accrued Wages, Superannuation & Accrued Days Off
- Unconditional and expected to be settled within 12 months
Total Current Provisions

510
4,485

327
4,000

1,251
9,632

1,040
8,258

Non-Current Provisions
Long Service Leave
Total Non-Current Provisions

1,022
1,022

1,104
1,104

10,654

9,362

3,386
815
342
94
4,995

2,891
691
264
85
4,327

1,022
10,654

1,104
9,362

5,431

4,908

1,336
(220)
(530)
6,017

258
898
(633)
5,431

Total Provisions
(a) Employee Benefits
Current Employee Benefits
Annual Leave Entitlements
Accrued Wages and Salaries
Superannuation Entitlements
Accrued Days Off
Unconditional LSL Entitlement
Non-Current Employee Benefits
Conditional Long Service Leave Entitlements
Total Employee Benefits
(b) Movements in provisions
Movement in Long Service Leave Provision:
Balance at start of year*
Provision made during the year
- Expense recognising Employee Service
- Provision Revaluations
Settlement made during the year
Balance at end of year*
Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Service has a present obligation, the future sacrifice of economic benefits is probable, and the amount of the
provision can be measured reliably.
The amount recognised as a liability is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at reporting date, taking into
account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows, using a discount rate that reflects the time value of money and risks specific to
the provision.
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be received from a third party, the receivable is recognised as
an asset if it is virtually certain that recovery will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
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Note 3.3: Provisions (employee benefits in the balance sheet) (cont.)
Employee benefits
This provision arises for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and long service leave for services rendered to
the reporting date.
Wages and salaries, annual leave and accrued days off
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and annual leave are all recognised in the provision for employee benefits as
‘current liabilities’, because the health service does not have an unconditional right to defer settlements of these liabilities.
Depending on the expectation of the timing of settlement, liabilities for wages and salaries and annual leave are measured at:

Undiscounted value – if the Service expects to wholly settle within 12 months; or

Present value – if the Service does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months.
Long service leave (LSL)
Liability for LSL is recognised in the provision for employee benefits. Unconditional LSL is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements as a
current liability, even where the Service service does not expect to settle the liability within 12 months because it will not have the unconditional right
to defer the settlement of the entitlement should an employee take leave within 12 months. An unconditional right arises after a qualifying period.
The components of this current LSL liability are measured at:

Undiscounted value – if the health service expects to wholly settle within 12 months; or

Present value – where the entity does not expect to settle a component of this current liability within 12 months.
Conditional LSL is disclosed as a non-current liability. There is an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the entitlement until the employee has
completed the requisite years of service. This non-current LSL liability is measured at present value.
Any gain or loss followed revaluation of the present value of non-current LSL liability is recognised as a transaction, except to the extent that a gain or
loss arises due to changes in estimations e.g. bond rate movements, inflation rate movements and changes in probability factors which are then
recognised as an other economic flow.
Termination benefits
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before the normal retirement date or when an employee decides to accept an offer
of benefits in exchange for the termination of employment.
The Service recognises termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either terminating the employment of current employees according
to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal or providing termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary
redundancy.
On-costs related to employee expense
Provision for on-costs, such workers' compensation and superannuation are recognised together with provisions for employee benefits.

Note 3.4: Superannuation
Paid Contributions for
the Year

Defined benefit plans (i) :
First State Superannuation Fund
Total defined benefit plans
Defined contribution plans:
First State Superannuation Fund
HESTA Superannuation Fund
Other
Total defined contribution plans
Total

Contributions
Outstanding at Year End

2017
$'000

2016
$'000

2017
$'000

2016
$'000

91
91

39
39

5
5

3
3

2,622
147
250
3,019

1,607
83
179
1,869

216
12
21
249

130
8
17
155

3,110

1,908

254

158

(i) The bases for determining the level of contributions is determined by the various actuaries of the defined benefit superannuation plans.
Employees of the Service are entitled to receive superannuation benefits and the Service contributes to both defined benefit and defined contribution
plans. The defined benefit plans provide benefits based on years of service and final average salary.
The Service does not recognise any defined benefit liability in respect of the plans because the entity has no legal or constructive obligation to pay
future benefits relating to its employees; its only obligation is to pay superannuation contributions as they fall due. The Department of Treasury &
Finance discloses the State’s defined benefits liabilities in its disclosure for administered items.
Superannuation contributions paid or payable for the reporting period are included as part of employee benefits in the comprehensive operating
statement of the Service.
Defined contribution superannuation plans
In relation to defined contribution (i.e. accumulation) superannuation plans, the associated expense is simply the employer contributions that are paid
or payable in respect of employees who are members of these plans during the reporting period. Contributions to defined contribution superannuation
plans are expensed when incurred.
Defined benefit superannuation plans
The amount charged to the comprehensive operating statement in respect of defined benefit superannuation plans represents the contributions made
by the Service to the superannuation plans in respect of the services of current staff during the reporting period. Superannuation contributions are
made to the plans based on the relevant rules of each plan, and are based upon actuarial advice.
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Note 4: Key Assets to support service delivery
The Service controls infrastructure and other investments that are utilised in fulfilling its objectives and conducting its activities. They represent the
key resources that have been entrusted to the Service to be utilised for delivery of those outputs.

Structure of Note 4

4.1
4.2
4.3
4.4

Investments and other financial assets
Investments in joint ventures
Property, plant & equipment
Depreciation

Note 4.1: Investments

CURRENT
Loans and receivables
Term Deposits
Aust. Dollar Term Deposits > 3 months
TOTAL INVESTMENTS
Represented by:
Service Investments
Monies Held in Trust
Residential Aged Care Bonds and Deposits
TOTAL INVESTMENTS

Operating Fund
2017
2016
$'000
$'000

2,000
2,000

-

1,000

-

1,000
2,000

-

(a) Ageing analysis of investments and other financial assets
Please refer to Note 7.1 for the ageing analysis of investments and other financial assets
(b) Nature and extent of risk arising from investments and other financial assets
Please refer to Note 7.1 for the nature and extent of credit risk arising from investments and other financial assets
Investments
Service investments must be in accordance in Standing Direction 3.7.2 – Treasury and Investment Risk Management. Investments are recognised and
derecognised on trade date where purchase or sale of an investment is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the
timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs.
Depending on their nature investments are classified in the following categories:
- financial assets at fair value through profit or loss;
- held-to-maturity;
- loans and receivables; or
- available-for-sale financial assets.
The Service classifies its other financial assets between current and non-current assets based on the purpose for which the assets were acquired.
Management determines the classification of its other financial assets at initial recognition.
Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised when:
- the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or
- the Service retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a
third party under a ‘pass through’ arrangement; or
- the Service has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either:
(a) has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset; or
(b) has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred its control.
Where the Service has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards or transferred control, the asset is recognised to the
extent of the Service’s continuing involvement in the asset.
Impairment of financial assets
At the end of each reporting period, the Service assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is
impaired. All financial instrument assets, except those measured at fair value through profit or loss, are subject to annual review for impairment.
The allowance is the difference between the financial asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the
effective interest rate. In assessing impairment of statutory (non-contractual) financial assets, which are not financial instruments, professional
judgement is applied in assessing materiality using estimates, averages and other computational methods in accordance with AASB 136 Impairment of
Assets.
Doubtful debts
Receivables are assessed for bad and doubtful debts on a regular basis. Those bad debts considered as written off by mutual consent are classified as a
transaction expense. Bad debts not written off by mutual consent and the allowance for doubtful debts are classified as other economic flows in the net
result.
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Note 4.2: Interest in GRHA Joint Operation

Name of Entity
Jointly Controlled Entities
Grampians Regional Health Alliance IT JVA

Principal
Activity

Info. Tech.
Services

Country of
Incorp'n

Australia

Ownership Interest

Published Fair Value

2017

2016

2017
$'000

2016
$'000

8.14

7.36

557

382

%

%

The Service's interest in the above jointly controlled operations and assets is detailed below. The amounts are included in each relevant category of
the financial statements and notes thereto.
2017
2016
$'000
$'000
Summarised balance sheet:
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Other current assets
Total current assets
Non-Current Assets
Property, Plant & Equipment
Total Non-Current Assets
Total Assets

264
35
3
302

156
95
13
264

302
302
604

199
199
463

47
47

81
81

557

382

Revenue
Revenue from operating activities
Capital revenue
Total Revenue

446
197
643

374
245
619

Expenses
Info. Tech. and Administrative Expenses
Employee Expenses
Depreciation
Total Expenses
Net Result

308
124
36
468
175

290
71
22
383
236

Current Liabilities
Payables
Total current liabilities
Equity
Accumulated Surpluses
Total Equity
Summarised operating statement:

Joint ventures
Jointly controlled assets or operations
Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require the
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. Joint ventures are joint arrangements whereby the Service, via its joint control of the arrangement,
has rights to the net assets of the arrangements.
Investments in joint operations
In respect of any interest in joint operations, the Service recognises in the financial statements:
-its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly;
-any liabilities including its share of liabilities that it had incurred;
-its revenue from the sale of its share of the output from the joint operation;
-its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the operation; and
-its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly.
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Note 4.3: Property, plant & equipment
(a) Gross carrying amount and accumulated depreciation
Land
Land at Fair Value
Total Land
Buildings
Buildings at Fair Value
Less Acc'd Depreciation
Total Buildings

2017
$'000

2016
$'000

886
886

721
721

65,457
(9,819)
55,638

59,492
(5,707)
53,785

Plant and Equipment
Plant and Equipment at Fair Value
Less Acc'd Depreciation
Total Plant and Equipment

5,207
(3,502)
1,705

3,634
(2,571)
1,063

Medical Equipment
Medical Equipment at Fair Value
Less Acc'd Depreciation
Total Medical Equipment

4,082
(3,017)
1,065

3,984
(2,781)
1,203

1,752
(980)
772

1,279
(565)
714

Motor Vehicles
Motor Vehicles at Fair Value
Less Acc'd Depreciation
Total Motor Vehicles

1,750
(675)
1,075

1,349
(255)
1,094

Assets under Construction
Assets Under Construction
Total Assets under Construction

1,373
1,373

868
868

62,514

59,448

Computers & Communication Equipment
Computers & Communication at Fair Value
Less Acc'd Depreciation
Total Computers & Communication Equipment

TOTAL
(b) Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of each class of asset
Land

Balance at 1 July 2015
Additions
Additions / (Disposals) - GRHA
Transfer from Assets Under Construction
Disposals
Depreciation (Note 4.5)
Balance at 1 July 2016
Additions
Additions from amalgamation with Dunmunkle
Health Services
Additions / (Disposals) - GRHA
Transfer to / from Assets Under Construction
Disposals
Depreciation (Note 4.5)
Balance at 30 June 2017

$'000
751
(30)
721
25
140
886

Buildings

Plant,
Equipment
& Furniture
$'000
$'000
56,839
1,220
78
10
(153)
(2,901)
(245)
53,785
1,063
56
197
5,096
(3,299)
55,638

271
40
467
(333)
1,705

Medical Computers
Equipment
& Comms
$'000
1,308
142
(247)
1,203
86
10
(234)
1,065

$'000
739
167
(192)
714
284
6
(3)
(229)
772

Motor
Assets
Vehicles
Under
Construction
$'000
$'000
751
451
347
804
387
(387)
(191)
(200)
1,094
868
377
927
40
1
(171)
(266)
1,075

45
(467)
1,373

Total
$'000
62,059
1,538
10
(374)
(3,785)
59,448
1,952
5,608
41
(174)
(4,361)
62,514

Land and buildings carried at valuation
An independent valuation of the Service's land and buildings was performed by the Valuer-General Victoria to determine the fair value of the land and
buildings. The valuation, which conforms to Australian Valuation Standards, was determined by reference to the amounts for which assets could be
exchanged between knowledgeable willing parties in an arm's length transaction. The valuation was based on independent assessments. The effective
date of the valuation is 30 June 2014.
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Note 4.3: Property, plant & equipment (cont.)
(c) Fair value measurement hierarchy for assets
Carrying Fair value measurement at end of
reporting period using:
amount as
at 30 June
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3
2017
Land at fair value
Non-specialised land
Specialised land
Total of land at fair value

355
531
886

-

355
355

531
531

1,373
1,335
54,303
57,011

1,373
1,373

1,335
1,335

54,303
54,303

1,357
1,357

-

-

1,357
1,357

Furniture and Fittings at Fair Value
Furniture and fittings
Total furniture and fittings at fair value

348
348

-

-

348
348

Computers and communications at fair value
Computers and communications equipment
Total computers and communications equipment at fair value

772
772

-

-

772
772

1,065
1,065

-

-

1,065
1,065

1,075
1,075
62,514

1,373

746
746
2,436

329
329
58,705

Buildings at fair value
Buildings under construction
Non-specialised buildings
Specialised buildings
Total of building at fair value
Plant and equipment at fair value
Plant and equipment
Total of plant and equipment at fair value

Medical equipment at fair value
General medical equipment
Total medical equipment at fair value
Motor vehicles at fair value
Motor vehicles
Total motor vehicles at fair value
There have been no transfers between levels during the period.

Carrying Fair value measurement at end of
reporting period using:
amount as
at 30 June
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3
2016
Land at fair value
Non-specialised land
Specialised land
Total of land at fair value

315
406
721

-

315
315

406
406

868
1,171
52,614
54,653

868
868

1,171
1,171

52,614
52,614

Plant and equipment at fair value
Plant and equipment
Total of plant and equipment at fair value

758
758

-

-

758
758

Furniture and Fittings at Fair Value
Furniture and fittings
Total furniture and fittings at fair value

305
305

-

-

305
305

Computers and communications at fair value
Computers and communications equipment
Total computers and communications equipment at fair value

714
714

-

-

714
714

1,203
1,203

-

-

1,203
1,203

1,094
1,094
59,448

868

732
732
2,218

362
362
56,362

Buildings at fair value
Buildings under construction
Non-specialised buildings
Specialised buildings
Total of building at fair value

Medical equipment at fair value
General medical equipment
Total medical equipment at fair value
Motor vehicles at fair value
Motor vehicles
Total motor vehicles at fair value
There have been no transfers between levels during the period.

Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and also in future periods that are affected by the
revision. Judgements and assumptions made by management in the application of AASBs that have significant effects on the financial statements and
estimates relate to the fair value of land, buildings, infrastructure, plant and equipment.
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Note 4.3: Property, plant & equipment (cont.)

(c) Fair value measurement hierarchy for assets (cont.)
Consistent with AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement , the Service determines the policies and procedures for both recurring fair value measurements such
as property, plant and equipment, investment properties and financial instruments, and for non-recurring fair value measurements such as nonfinancial physical assets held for sale, in accordance with the requirements of AASB 13 and the relevant FRDs.
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:
- Level 1 – Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
- Level 2 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly observable
- Level 3 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable.
For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Service has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks
of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.
In addition, the Service determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
The Valuer-General Victoria (VGV) is the Serivce's independent valuation agency. The Service, in conjunction with VGV monitors the changes in the
fair value of each asset and liability through relevant data sources to determine whether revaluation is required.
Fair value measurement
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the following assumptions:
- that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market (or the most advantageous market, in the
absence of the principal market), either of which must be accessible to the Service at the measurement date;
- that the Health Service uses the same valuation assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that
market participants act in their economic best interest.
The fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset
in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.
Consideration of highest and best use (HBU) for non-financial physical assets
Judgements about highest and best use must take into account the characteristics of the assets concerned, including restrictions on the use and
disposal of assets arising from the asset’s physical nature and any applicable legislative/contractual arrangements.
In considering the HBU for non-financial physical assets, valuers are probably best placed to determine highest and best use (HBU) in consultation with
Health Services. Health Services and their valuers therefore need to have a shared understanding of the circumstances of the assets. A Health Service
has to form its own view about a valuer’s determination, as it is ultimately responsible for what is presented in its audited financial statements.
In accordance with paragraph AASB 13.29, Health Services can assume the current use of a non-financial physical asset is its HBU unless market or
other factors suggest that a different use by market participants would maximise the value of the asset. Therefore, an assessment of the HBU will be
required when the indicators are triggered within a reporting period, which suggest the market participants would have perceived an alternative use of
an asset that can generate maximum value. Once identified, Health Services are required to engage with VGV or other independent valuers for formal
HBU assessment.
These indicators, as a minimum, include:
External factors:
- Changed acts, regulations, local law or such instrument which affects or may affect the use or development of the asset;
- Changes in planning scheme, including zones, reservations, overlays that would affect or remove the restrictions imposed on the asset’s use from
its past use;
- Evidence that suggest the current use of an asset is no longer core to requirements to deliver a Health Service’s service obligation;
- Evidence that suggests that the asset might be sold or demolished at reaching the late stage of an asset’s life cycle.
In addition, Health Services need to assess the HBU as part of the 5-year review of fair value of non-financial physical assets. This is consistent with
the current requirements on FRD 103F Non-financial physical assets and FRD 107B Investment properties .
Valuation hierarchy
Health services need to use valuation techniques that are appropriate for the circumstances and where there is sufficient data available to measure fair
value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy. It is
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:
- Level 1 – Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
- Level 2 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly observable;
- Level 3 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable.
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Note 4.3: Property, plant & equipment (cont.)

(d) Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value

30 June 2017

Land $'000

Opening Balance
Purchases (sales)
Effect of Amalgamation with Dunmunkle Health Svcs.
Depreciation
Closing Balance at 30 June 2017

30 June 2016

406
125
531

Land $'000

Buildings
$'000

52,614
4,927
(3,238)
54,303

Buildings
$'000

Plant &
Medical
equipment equipment
$'000
$'000

Comps &
Commns.
$'000

Motor
Vehicles
$'000

Totals
$'000

1,203
86
10
(234)
1,065

714
283
4
(229)
772

362
7
(40)
329

56,362
1,080
5,302
(4,039)
58,705

Plant &
Medical
equipment equipment
$'000
$'000

Comps &
Commns
$'000

Motor
Vehicles
$'000

Totals
$'000

387
(25)

59,117
764
(3,519)

1,063
704
236
(298)
1,705

Opening Balance
Purchases (sales)
Depreciation

406
-

55,444
(2,830)

1,220
68
(225)

1,308
142
(247)

739
167
(192)

Closing Balance at 30 June 2016
There have been no transfers between levels during the periods.

406

52,614

1,063

1,203

714

362

56,362

Identifying unobservable inputs (level 3) fair value measurements
Level 3 fair value inputs are unobservable valuation inputs for an asset or liability. These inputs require significant judgement and assumptions in
deriving fair value for both financial and non-financial assets.
Unobservable inputs shall be used to measure fair value to the extent that relevant observable inputs are not available, thereby allowing for situations
in which there is little, if any, market activity for the asset or liability at the measurement date. However, the fair value measurement objective
remains the same, i.e., an exit price at the measurement date from the perspective of a market participant that holds the asset or owes the liability.
Therefore, unobservable inputs shall reflect the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, including
assumptions about risk.
Assumptions about risk include the inherent risk in a particular valuation technique used to measure fair value (such as a pricing risk model) and the
risk inherent in the inputs to the valuation technique. A measurement that does not include an adjustment for risk would not represent a fair value
measurement if market participants would include one when pricing the asset or liability i.e., it might be necessary to include a risk adjustment when
there is significant measurement uncertainty. For example, when there has been a significant decrease in the volume or level of activity when
compared with normal market activity for the asset or liability or similar assets or liabilities, and the Health Service has determined that the transaction
price or quoted price does not represent fair value.
A Health Service shall develop unobservable inputs using the best information available in the circumstances, which might include the Health Service’s
own data. In developing unobservable inputs, a Health Service may begin with its own data, but it shall adjust this data if reasonably available
information indicates that other market participants would use different data or there is something particular to the Health Service that is not available
to other market participants. A Health Service need not undertake exhaustive efforts to obtain information about other market participant
assumptions. However, a Health Service shall take into account all information about market participant assumptions that is reasonably available.
Unobservable inputs developed in the manner described above are considered market participant assumptions and meet the object of a fair value
measurement.
Non-specialised land and non-specialised buildings
Non-specialised land and non-specialised buildings are valued using the market approach. Under this valuation method, the assets are compared to
recent comparable sales or sales of comparable assets which are considered to have nominal or no added improvement value.
For non-specialised land and non-specialised buildings, an independent valuation was performed by the Victorian Valuer General to determine the fair
value using the market approach. Valuation of the assets was determined by analysing comparable sales and allowing for share, size, topography,
location and other relevant factors specific to the asset being valued. An appropriate rate per square metre has been applied to the subject asset. The
effective date of the valuation is 30 June 2014.
To the extent that non-specialised land, non-specialised buildings do not contain significant, unobservable adjustments, these assets are classified as
Level 2 under the market approach.
Specialised land and specialised buildings
The market approach is also used for specialised land and specialised buildings although is adjusted for the community service obligation (CSO) to
reflect the specialised nature of the assets being valued. Specialised assets contain significant, unobservable adjustments; therefore these assets are
classified as Level 3 under the market based direct comparison approach.
The CSO adjustment is a reflection of the valuer’s assessment of the impact of restrictions associated with an asset to the extent that is also equally
applicable to market participants. This approach is in light of the highest and best use consideration required for fair value measurement, and takes
into account the use of the asset that is physically possible, legally permissible and financially feasible. As adjustments of CSO are considered as
significant unobservable inputs, specialised land would be classified as Level 3 assets.
For health services, the depreciated replacement cost method is used for the majority of specialised buildings, adjusting for the associated
depreciation. As depreciation adjustments are considered as significant and unobservable inputs in nature, specialised buildings are classified as Level
3 for fair value measurements.
An independent valuation of the Service’s specialised land and specialised buildings was performed by the Valuer-General Victoria. The valuation was
performed using the market approach adjusted for CSO. The effective date of the valuation is 30 June 2014.

60

WEST WIMMERA HEALTH SERVICE

West Wimmera Health Service
Notes to the Financial Statements
30 June 2017

Note 4.3: Property, plant & equipment (cont.)

(d) Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value (cont.)
Vehicles

The Service acquires new vehicles and at times disposes of them before completion of their economic life. The process of acquisition, use and disposal
in the market is managed by the Health Service who set relevant depreciation rates during use to reflect the consumption of the vehicles. As a result,
the fair value of vehicles does not differ materially from the carrying amount (depreciated cost).
Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment is held at carrying amount (depreciated cost). When plant and equipment is specialised in use, such that it is rarely sold other
than as part of a going concern, the depreciated replacement cost is used to estimate the fair value. Unless there is market evidence that current
replacement costs are significantly different from the original acquisition cost, it is considered unlikely that depreciated replacement cost will be
materially different from the existing carrying amount.
There were no changes in valuation techniques throughout the period to 30 June 2017.
For all assets measured at fair value, the current use is considered the highest and best use.
(e) Description of significant unobservable inputs to Level 3 valuations:
Valuation technique

Specialised land (Nhill, Jeparit, Kaniva,
Rainbow, Natimuk, Goroke and Cooinda
campuses)
Specialised buildings (Nhill, Jeparit,
Kaniva, Rainbow, Natimuk, Goroke and

Market approach

Depreciated
replacement cost
Depreciated
Plant and equipment at fair value
replacement cost
Depreciated
Computers and Communications
replacement cost
Depreciated
Medical equipment at fair value
replacement cost
Depreciated
Vehicles
replacement cost
The significant unobservable inputs have remain unchanged from 2016.

Significant unobservable
inputs

Community Service
Obligation (CSO)
adjustment
Direct cost per square
Useful life
Cost per unit
Useful life
Cost per unit
Useful life
Cost per unit
Useful life
Cost per unit
Useful life

Property, plant and equipment
All non-current physical assets are measured initially at cost and subsequently revalued at fair value less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment loss. Where an asset is acquired for no or nominal cost, the cost is its fair value at the date of acquisition. Assets transferred as part of a
merger/machinery of government are transferred at their carrying amount.
More details about the valuation techniques and inputs used in determining the fair value of non-financial physical assets are discussed in Note 4.3
Property, plant and equipment .
The initial cost for non-financial physical assets under finance lease is measured at amounts equal to the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, the
present value of the minimum lease payments, each determined at the inception of the lease.
Crown land is measured at fair value with regard to the property’s highest and best use after due consideration is made for any legal or physical
restrictions imposed on the asset, public announcements or commitments made in relation to the intended use of the asset. Theoretical opportunities
that may be available in relation to the asset(s) are not taken into account until it is virtually certain that any restrictions will no longer apply.
Therefore, unless otherwise disclosed, the current use of these non-financial physical assets will be their highest and best uses.
Land and buildings are recognised initially at cost and subsequently measured at fair value less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment loss.
Plant, equipment and vehicles are recognised initially at cost and subsequently measured at fair value less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment loss. Depreciated historical cost is generally a reasonable proxy for fair value because of the short lives of the assets
concerned.
Leasehold improvements
The cost of leasehold improvements is capitalised as an asset and depreciated over the shorter of the remaining term of the lease or the estimated
useful life of the improvements.
Revaluations of non-current physical assets
Non-current physical assets are measured at fair value and are revalued in accordance with FRD 103F Non-current physical assets . This revaluation
process normally occurs at least every five years, based upon the asset’s Government Purpose Classification, but may occur more frequently if fair
value assessments indicate material changes in values. Independent valuers are used to conduct these scheduled revaluations and any interim
revaluations are determined in accordance with the requirements of the FRDs. Revaluation increments or decrements arise from differences between
an asset’s carrying amount and fair value.
Revaluation increments are recognised in ‘other comprehensive income’ and are credited directly in equity to the asset revaluation surplus, except
that, to the extent that an increment reverses a revaluation decrement in respect of that same class of asset previously recognised as an expense in
net result, the increment is recognised as income in the net result.
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Note 4.3: Property, plant & equipment (cont.)

(e) Description of significant unobservable inputs to Level 3 valuations: (cont.)
Revaluation decrements are recognised in ‘other comprehensive income’ to the extent that a credit balance exists in the asset revaluation surplus in
respect of the same class of property, plant and equipment.
Revaluation increases and revaluation decreases relating to individual assets within an asset class are offset against one another within that class but
are not offset in respect of assets in different classes.
Revaluation surplus is not normally transferred to accumulated funds on derecognition of the relevant asset.
In accordance with FRD 103F, the Service's non-current physical assets were assessed to determine whether revaluation of the non-current physical
assets was required.

Note 4.4: Depreciation
Depreciation
Buildings
Plant & Equipment
Medical Equipment
Computers & Communication
Motor Vehicles
Total Depreciation

2017
$'000
3,299
333
234
229
266
4,361

2016
$'000
2,901
245
247
192
200
3,785

All infrastructure assets, buildings, plant and equipment and other non-financial physical assets that have finite useful lives are depreciated (i.e.
excludes land assets held for sale, and investment properties). Depreciation begins when the asset is available for use, which is when it is in the
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in a manner intended by management.
Depreciation is generally calculated on a straight line basis, at a rate that allocates the asset value, less any estimated residual value over its estimated
useful life. Estimates of the remaining useful lives, residual value and depreciation method for all assets are reviewed at least annually, and
adjustments made where appropriate. This depreciation charge is not funded by the Department of Health and Human Services. Assets with a cost in
excess of $1000 are capitalised and depreciation has been provided on depreciable assets so as to allocate their cost or valuation over their estimated
useful lives.
The following table indicates the expected useful lives of non-current assets on which the depreciation charges are based.

Buildings
Plant & Equipment
Medical Equipment
Computers and Communication
Motor Vehicles

5
5
5
4
5

2017
to 47 years
to 10 years
to 10 years
to 10 years
to 10 years

5
5
5
4
5

2016
to 47 years
to 10 years
to 10 years
to 10 years
to 10 years

Note 5: Other assets and liabilities
This section sets out those assets and liabilities that arose from the Service's operations.

Structure of Note 5

5.1
5.2
5.3
5.4
5.5

Receivables
Inventories
Other liabilities
Prepayments and other non-financial assets
Payables

Note 5.1: Receivables

62

2017
$'000

2016
$'000

253
35
539
1
166

150
95
331
1
104

(5)
(5)
984

(5)
(5)
671

CURRENT
Contractual
Trade Debtors
Sundry Debtors - GRHA
Patient Fees
Tenant Bond Monies Held
Accrued Revenue - Other
Less Allowance for Doubtful Debts
- Trade Debtors
- Patient Fees
Total Contractual
Statutory
GST Receivable
Total Stututory
TOTAL CURRENT RECEIVABLES

66
66
1,050

90
90
761

NON CURRENT
Statutory
Long Service Leave - Department of Health and Human Services
TOTAL NON-CURRENT RECEIVABLES
TOTAL RECEIVABLES

2,430
2,430
3,480

2,641
2,641
3,402
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Note 5.1: Receivables (cont.)

(a) Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts

2017
$'000
10
20
(20)
10

Balance at beginning of year
Increase due to amalgamation
Increase/(decrease) in allowance recognised in net result
Amount recovered during the year
Balance at end of year

2016
$'000
5
5
10

(b) Ageing analysis of receivables
Please refer to Note 7 for the ageing analysis of contractual receivables.
(c) Nature and extent of risk arising from receivables
Please refer to Note 7 for the nature and extent of credit risk arising from contractual receivables.
Receivables consist of:
- contractual receivables, which includes mainly debtors in relation to goods and services, loans to third parties, accrued investment income, and
finance lease receivables; and
- statutory receivables, which includes predominantly amounts owing from the Victorian Government and Goods and Services Tax (“GST”) input tax
credits recoverable.
Receivables that are contractual are classified as financial instruments and categorised as loans and receivables. Statutory receivables are recognised
and measured similarly to contractual receivables (except for impairment), but are not classified as financial instruments because they do not arise
from a contract.
Receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, less any
accumulated impairment.
Trade debtors are carried at nominal amounts due and are due for settlement within 30 days from the date of recognition. Collectability of debts is
reviewed on an ongoing basis, and debts which are known to be uncollectible are written off. A provision for doubtful debts is recognised when there is
objective evidence that the debts may not be collected and bad debts are written off when identified.

Note 5.2: Inventories

2017
$'000
30
7
4
37
5
83

Pharmaceutical supplies at cost
Catering supplies at cost
Housekeeping supplies at cost
Medical and surgical supplies at cost
Administration supplies at cost
TOTAL INVENTORIES

2016
$'000
32
10
6
40
4
92

Inventories include goods and other property held either for sale, consumption or for distribution at no or nominal cost in the ordinary course of
business operations. It excludes depreciable assets.
Inventories held for distribution are measured at cost, adjusted for any loss of service potential. All other inventories, including land held for sale, are
measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Inventories acquired for no cost or nominal considerations are measured at current replacement cost at the date of acquisition.
The bases used in assessing loss of service potential for inventories held for distribution include current replacement cost and technical or functional
obsolescence. Technical obsolescence occurs when an item still functions for some or all of the tasks it was originally acquired to do, but no longer
matches existing technologies. Functional obsolescence occurs when an item no longer functions the way it did when it was first acquired.
Cost for all other inventory is measured on the basis of weighted average cost.

Note 5.3: Other liabilities
2017
$'000

2016
$'000

CURRENT
Monies Held in Trust*
- Accommodation Bonds and Refundable
Accommodation Deposits
Other
- PAYG Tax
- Residential Tenancy Bonds
Total Current Other Liabilities

10,514

6,778

11
5
10,530

4
4
6,786

* Total Monies Held in Trust
Represented by the following assets:
Cash Assets (refer to Note 6.1)
Land & Buildings
TOTAL

9,909
605
10,514

6,173
605
6,778
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Note 5.4: Prepayments and other non-financial assets
CURRENT
Prepayments
TOTAL OTHER ASSETS

2017
$'000
118
118

2016
$'000
280
280

Other non-financial assets include prepayments which represent payments in advance of receipt of goods or services or that part of expenditure made
in one accounting period covering a term extending beyond that period.

Note 5.5: Payables

CURRENT
Contractual
Trade Creditors (i)
Trade Creditors - GRHA
Accrued Expenses
Unearned Revenue
TOTAL PAYABLES

2017
$'000
533
47
269
145
994

2016
$'000
773
81
329
241
1,424

(i) The average credit period is 30 days. Interest is not changed on outstanding invoices.
(a) Maturity analysis of payables
Please refer to Note 7 for the ageing analysis of contractual payables.
(b) Nature and extent of risk arising from payables
Please refer to note 7 for the nature and extent of risks arising from contractual payables.
Payables consist of:
- contractual payables which consist predominantly of accounts payable representing liabilities for goods and services provided to the Health Service
prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid, and arise when the Health Service becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the
purchase of those goods and services. The normal credit terms for accounts payable are usually Nett 30 days.
- statutory payables, such as goods and services tax and fringe benefits tax payables.
Contractual payables are classified as financial instruments and are initially recognised at fair value, and then subsequently carried at amortised cost.
Statutory payables are recognised and measured similarly to contractual payables, but are not classified as financial instruments and not included in
the category of financial liabilities at amortised cost, because they do not arise from a contract.

Note 6: How we finance our operations
This section provides information on the sources of finance utilised by the Service during its operations, along with interest expenses (the cost of
borrowings) and other information related to financing activities of the Service.
This section includes disclosures of balances that are financial instruments (such as borrowings and cash balances). Note: 7.1 provides additional,
specific financial instrument disclosures.
Structure of Note 6
6.1 Cash and cash equivalents
6.2 Commitments for expenditure
6.3 Borrowings

Note 6.1: Cash and Cash Equivalents
For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash assets includes cash on hand and in banks, and short-term deposits which are readily
convertible to cash on hand, and are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

Cash on hand
Cash at bank
Cash - GRHA
Deposits at call
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents
Represented by:
Cash for Health Service Operations (as per Cash Flow Statement)
Cash - GRHA
Cash for Monies Held in Trust
- Cash at Bank
- Deposits at Call
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents

2017
$'000
5
1,454
264
13,909
15,632

2016
$'000
5
1,216
156
11,154
12,531

5,459
264

6,202
156

9,909
15,632

20
6,153
12,531

Cash and cash equivalents recognised on the Balance Sheet comprise cash on hand and cash at bank, deposits at call and highly liquid investments
(with an original maturity of three months or less), which are held for the purpose of meeting short term cash commitments rather than for investment
purposes, which are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with an insignificant risk of changes in value.
For Cash Flow Statement presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents include bank overdrafts, which are included as liabilities on the Balance
Sheet.
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Note 6.2: Commitments for expenditure
2017

Lease commitments
Commitments in relation to leases contracted for at the reporting date:
Operating leases
Motor vehicle
Total lease commitments

$'000

2016

$'000

23
23

6
6

Operating leases
Cancellable
Not later than one year
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years
Total lease commitments

8
15
23

6
6

Total Commitments (inclusive of GST)
less GST recoverable from the Australian Tax Office
Total Commitments (inclusive of GST)

23
(2)
21

6
(1)
5

2017
$'000

2016
$'000

All amounts shown in the commitments note are nominal amounts inclusive of GST.

Note 6.3: Borrowings

CURRENT
Department of Health and Human Services*
Total Borrowings

65
65

-

* this item relates to monies owed by Dunmunkle Health Services to the Department of Health and Human Services. A total borrowing of $195k was
assumed by the Service upon amalgamating with DKHS on 1 July 2016. During the year, and in accordance with the DKHS's original agreement with
the Department, the Service repaid $130k of the initial amount. The remaining amount is due to be repaid in the 2017-2018 financial year.
(a) Maturity analysis of borrowings
Please refer to Note 7.1 for the ageing analysis of borrowings.
(b) Nature and extent of risk arising from borrowings
Please refer to Note 7.1 for the nature and exetent of risk arising from borrowings.
(c) Defaults and breaches
During the current and prior year, there were no defaults and breaches of any of the borrowings.

Note 7: Risks, contingencies & valuation uncertainties
The Service is exposed to risk from its activities and outside factors. In addition, it is often necessary to make judgements and estimates associated
with recognition and measurement of items in the financial statements. This section sets out financial instrument specific information, (including
exposures to financial risks) as well as those items that are contingent in nature or require a higher level of judgement to be applied, which for the
Service is related mainly to fair value determination.

Structure of Note 7

7.1
7.2
7.3
7.4

Financial instruments
Net gain/ (loss) on disposal of non-financial assets
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities
Fair value determination

Note 7.1: Financial Instruments
(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies
The West Wimmera Health Service's principal financial instruments comprise of:
- cash assets
- term deposits
- receivables (excluding statutory receivables)
- payables (excluding statutory payables)
- residential aged care accommodation bonds and refundable accommodation deposits.
Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis on
which income and expenses are recognised, with respect to each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in note 1
to the financial statements.
The Service's main financial risks include credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. The Service manages these financial risks in accordance with
its financial risk management policy.
The Service uses different methods to measure and manage the different risks to which it is exposed. Primary responsibility for the identification and
management of financial risks rests with Service's Finance Committee.
The main purpose in holding financial instruments is to prudentially manage the Service's financial risks within the government policy parameters.
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Note 7.1: Financial Instruments (cont.)

(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont.)
Categorisation of financial instruments

Contractual Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
- Trade Debtors
- Patient Fees
Other Financial Assets
- Term Deposits
Total Financial Assets

2017

Contractual
financial
assets loans and
receivables

Contractual
financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost

Total

$'000

$'000

$'000

15,632

15,632

283
534

283
534

2,000
18,449

2,000
18,449

Financial Liabilities
Payables
Other Financial Liabilities (accommodation deposits)
Total Financial Liabilities

Contractual Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
- Trade Debtors
- Patient Fees
Total Financial Assets

994
10,514
11,508

2016

Financial Liabilities
Payables
Other Financial Liabilities (accommodation deposits)
Total Financial Liabilities

994
10,514
11,508

Contractual
financial
assets loans and
receivables

Contractual
financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost

Total

$'000

$'000

$'000

12,531

12,531

240
326
13,097

240
326
13,097
1,424
6,778
8,202

1,424
6,778
8,202

(b) Net holding gain/(loss) on financial instruments by category

2017
Financial Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Total Financial Assets
2016
Financial Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Total Financial Assets

Total
interest
income /
(expense)
$'000

322
322

319
319

(c) Credit risk
Credit risk arises from the contractual financial assets of the Service, which comprise cash and deposits, non-statutory receivables and available for
sale contractual financial assets. The Service’s exposure to credit risk arises from the potential default of a counter party on their contractual
obligations resulting in financial loss to the Service. Credit risk is measured at fair value and is monitored on a regular basis. Credit risk associated
with the Service’s contractual financial assets is minimal because the main debtor is the Victorian Government. For debtors other than the
Government, it is the Health Service’s policy to only deal with entities with high credit ratings of a minimum Triple-B rating and to obtain sufficient
collateral or credit enhancements, where appropriate.
In addition, the Service does not engage in hedging for its contractual financial assets and mainly obtains contractual financial assets that are on fixed
interest, except for cash assets, which are mainly cash at bank. As with the policy for debtors, the Service’s policy is to only deal with banks with high
credit ratings.
Provision of impairment for contractual financial assets is recognised when there is objective evidence that the Service will not be able to collect a
receivable. Objective evidence includes financial difficulties of the debtor, default payments, debts which are more than 60 days overdue, and changes
in debtor credit ratings.
Except as otherwise detailed in the following table, the carrying amount of contractual financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any
allowances for losses, represents the Service's maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the value of any collateral obtained.
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Note 7.1: Financial Instruments (cont.)

(c) Credit risk (cont.)

Credit quality of contractual financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired
Govt.
Financial
agencies
institutions
(AA credit (AAA credit
rating)
rating)

2017
Financial Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Loans and Receivables
- Trade Debtors
- Patient Fees
- Term Deposits
Total Financial Assets
2016
Financial Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Loans and Receivables
- Trade Debtors
- Patient Fees
Total Financial Assets

$'000

$'000

Other
(min BBB
credit
rating)

$'000

Total

$'000

12,632

3,000

-

15,632

1,000
13,632

1,000
4,000

283
534
817

283
534
2,000
18,449

9,531

3,000

-

12,531

9,531

3,000

240
326
566

240
326
13,097

The Service's exposure to credit risk and effective weighted average interest rate by ageing periods is set out in the following table. For interest rates
applicable to each class of asset refer to individual notes to the financial statements.
Ageing analysis of Financial Assets as at 30 June

2017
Financial Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Loans and Receivables
- Trade Debtors
- Patient Fees
- Term Deposits
Total Financial Assets
2016
Financial Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Loans and Receivables
- Patient Fees
- Other Receivables
Total Financial Assets

Past Due But Not
Impaired

Carrying
Amount

Not Past
Due and
Not
Impaired

Less than 1
Month

1-3 Months

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

15,632

15,632

-

-

283
534
2,000
18,449

94
184
2,000
17,910

43
252
295

146
98
244

12,531

12,531

-

-

240
326
13,097

149
110
12,790

71
82
153

20
134
154

Contractual financial assets that are either past due or impaired
There are no material financial assets which are individually determined to be impaired. Currently the Service does not hold any collateral
as security nor credit enhancements relating to any of its financial assets.
There are no financial assets that have had their terms renegotiated so as to prevent them from being past due or impaired, and they are
stated at the carrying amounts as indicated. The ageing analysis table above discloses the ageing only of contractual financial assets that
are past due but not impaired.
(d) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Health Service would be unable to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due. The Service operates under
the Government's fair payments policy of settling financial obligations within 30 days and in the event of a dispute, making payments within 30 days
from the date of resolution.
The Service's maximum exposure to liquidity risk is the carrying amounts of financial liabilities as disclosed in the face of the Balance Sheet. The
Service manages its liquidity risk by regularly assessing cash requirements to pay liabilities in the ensuing twelve month period to ensure that
sufficient liquid assets are available to meet expected liability payments. In relation to its holdings of aged care accommodation deposits and its
capacity to fully repay such bonds as and when they become due and payable, The Service follows its Liquidity Management Strategy. The Liquidity
Management Strategy takes into account the total amount of deposits outstanding, the total amount of deposits refunded in the previous year and the
average deposit amount to determine the minimum amount of liquidity that must be held at all times.
The following table discloses the contractual maturity analysis for the Service's financial liabilities. For interest rates applicable to each class of liability
refer to individual notes to the financial statements.
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Note 7.1: Financial Instruments (cont.)

(d) Liquidity risk (cont.)

Maturity analysis of Financial Liabilities as at 30 June

2017
Financial Liabilities
Payables
Accommodation Bonds / RADs
Total Financial Liabilities
2016
Financial Liabilities
Payables
Accommodation Bonds / RADs
Total Financial Liabilities

Maturity Dates
1-3 3 months Months
1 Year
$'000
$'000

Carrying
Amount
$'000

Nominal
Amount
$'000

994
10,514
11,508

994
10,514
11,508

994
994

10,514
10,514

1,424
6,778
8,202

1,424
6,778
8,202

1,424
1,424

6,778
6,778

(e) Market risk
The Service's exposures to market risk are primarily through interest rate risk with only insignificant exposure to foreign currency and other price
risks. Objectives, policies and processes used to manage each of these risks are disclosed in the paragraph below.
Currency risk
The Service is exposed to insignificant foreign currency risk through its payables relating to purchases of supplies and consumables from overseas.
This is because of a limited amount of purchases denominated in foreign currencies and a short timeframe between commitment and settlement.
Interest rate risk
Exposure to interest rate risk might arise primarily through the Service's interest bearing liabilities. Minimisation of risk is achieved by mainly
undertaking fixed rate or non-interest bearing financial instruments. For financial liabilities, the health service mainly undertake financial liabilities with
relatively even maturity profiles. Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. The Service has minimal exposure to cash flow interest rate risks through its cash and deposits, term deposits and
bank overdrafts that are at floating rate. The Service manages this risk by mainly undertaking fixed rate or non-interest bearing financial instruments
with relatively even maturity profiles, with only insignificant amounts of financial instruments at floating rate. Management has concluded for cash at
bank and bank overdraft, as financial assets that can be left at floating rate without necessarily exposing the Service to significant bad risk,
management monitors movement in interest rates on a daily basis.
Other price risk
The Service is exposed to normal price fluctuations from time to time through market forces. Where adequate notice is provided by suppliers
additional purchases are made for long term goods. Supplier contracts are also in place for major product lines purchased by the Service on a monthly
basis. These contracts have set price arrangements and are reviewed on a regular basis.
Interest rate exposure of financial assets and liabilities as at 30 June

2017
Financial Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Loans and Receivables
- Trade Debtors
- Patient Fees
- Term Deposits

Weighted
Average
Effective
Interest
Rate (%)
2.54

1.69

Financial Liabilities
At amortised cost
Payables
Other Financial Liabilities
- Accommodation Bonds and RADs
2016
Financial Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Receivables
- Trade Debtors
- Patient Fees
Financial Liabilities
At amortised cost
Payables
Other Financial Liabilities
- Accommodation Bonds and RADs

68

2.59

Carrying
Amount

$'000

Interest Rate Exposure
Fixed
Variable
NonInterest
Interest
Interest
Rate
Rate
Bearing
$'000
$'000
$'000

15,632

13,914

283
534
2,000
18,449

2,000
15,914

1,718
1,718

283
534
817

994

-

-

994

10,514
11,508

-

-

10,514
11,508

12,531

11,153

1,378

240
326
13,097

11,153

1,378

240
326
566

1,424

-

-

1,424

6,778
8,202

-

-

6,778
8,202
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Note 7.1: Financial Instruments (cont.)

(e) Market risk (cont.)

Sensitivity disclosure analysis
Taking into account past performance, future expectations, economic forecasts, and management's knowledge and experience of the financial markets,
the the Service believes the following movements are 'reasonably possible' over the next 12 months (Base rates are sourced from the Reserve Bank of
Australia):
- A shift of 100 basis points up and down in market interest rates (AUD) from year-end rates of 2.3%;
- A parallel shift of +1% and -1% in the inflation rate from year-end rates of 2.0%
The following table discloses the impact on net operating result and equity for each category of financial instrument held by the Service at year end as
presented to key management personnel, if changes in the relevant risk occur.
Carrying
Amount
2017
Financial Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Loans and Receivables
- Trade Debtors
- Patient Fees
- Term Deposits
Financial Liabilities
Payables
Other Financial Liabilities
- Accommodation Bonds and RADs
2016
Financial Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Loans and Receivables
- Trade Debtors
- Other Receivables
Financial Liabilities
Payables
Other Financial Liabilities
- Accommodation Bonds and RADs

Interest Rate Risk
-1%
Profit
$'000

Equity
$'000

+1%
Profit
$'000

Equity
$'000

15,632

(156)

(156)

156

156

283
534
2,000

(20)

(20)

20

20

-

-

-

-

10,514

(176)

(176)

176

176

12,531

(125)

(125)

125

125

994

240
326

-

-

-

-

1,424

-

-

-

-

6,778

(125)

(125)

125

125

(f) Fair value
The fair values and net fair values of financial instrument assets and liabilities are determined as follows:
• Level 1 - the fair value of financial instrument with standard terms and conditions and traded in active liquid markets are determined with reference
to quoted market prices;
• Level 2 - the fair value is determined using inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the financial asset or liability, either directly or
indirectly; and
• Level 3 - the fair value is determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis using
unobservable market inputs.
The Service considers that the carrying amount of financial instrument assets and liabilities recorded in the financial statements to be a fair
approximation of their fair values, because of the short-term nature of the financial instruments and the expectation that they will be paid in full.
The following table shows that the fair values of most of the contractual financial assets and liabilities are the same as the carrying amounts.
Comparison between carrying amount and fair value

Financial Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Loans and Receivables
- Trade Debtors
- Patient Fees
- Term Deposits
Total Financial Assets
Financial Liabilities
Payables
Other Financial Liabilities
- Accommodation Bonds and RADs
Total Financial Liabilities

Carrying
Fair value
Amount
2017
2017
$'000
$'000

Carrying
Amount
2016
$'000

Fair value
2016
$'000

15,632

15,632

12,531

12,531

283
534
2,000
18,449

283
534
2,000
18,449

240
326
13,097

240
326
13,097

994

994

1,424

1,424

10,514
11,508

10,514
11,508

6,778
8,202

6,778
8,202
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Note 7.2: Net gain/(loss) on disposal of non-financial assets

Proceeds from Disposals of Non-Current Assets
Plant and Equipment
Motor Vehicles
Buildings
Total Proceeds from Disposal of Non-Current Assets
Less: Written Down Value of Non-Current Assets Sold
Plant and Equipment
Motor Vehicles
Buildings
Total Written Down Value of Non-Current Assets Sold
Net gain/(loss) on Disposal of Non-Financial Assets

2017
$'000

2016
$'000

28
180
208

189
225
414

4
159
163

191
184
375

45

39

Disposal of non-financial assets
Any gain or loss on the sale of non-financial assets is recognised in the comprehensive operating statement.
Impairment of non-financial assets
With the exception of inventories, non-financial assets are assessed annually for indications of impairment and whenever there is an indication that the
asset may be impaired.
If there is an indication of impairment, the assets concerned are tested as to whether their carrying amount exceeds their possible recoverable
amount. Where an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, the difference is written-off as an expense except to the extent that the
write-down can be debited to an asset revaluation surplus amount applicable to that same class of asset.
If there is an indication that there has been a reversal in the estimate of an asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised,
the carrying amount shall be increased to its recoverable amount. This reversal of the impairment loss occurs only to the extent that the asset’s
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had
been recognised in prior years.
It is deemed that, in the event of the loss or destruction of an asset, the future economic benefits arising from the use of the asset will be replaced
unless a specific decision to the contrary has been made. The recoverable amount for most assets is measured at the higher of depreciated
replacement cost and fair value less costs of disposal. Recoverable amount for assets held primarily to generate net cash inflows is measured at the
higher of the present value of future cash flows expected to be obtained from the asset and fair value less costs of disposal.

Note 7.3: Contingent assets and contingent liabilities
Details of estimates of maximum amounts of Contingent Assets or Contingent Liabilities are as follows:

Contingent Liabilities
Quantifiable
Caveat over Property - Kaniva Hostel Units
Total Quantifiable Contingent Liabilities

2017
$'000

2016
$'000

200
200

200
200

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the balance sheet, but are disclosed by way of note and, if quantifiable, are measured
at nominal value. Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are presented inclusive of GST receivable or payable respectively.
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Note 7.4: Fair value determination

Expected
fair value
level

Asset class

Examples of types of assets

Non-specialised land

In areas where there is an active market:
- vacant land
- land not subject to restrictions as to use or sale

Level 2

Market
approach

Level 3

Market
approach

Level 2

Market
approach

Land subject to restrictions as to use and/or sale
Specialised land

Land in areas where there is not an active market

Non-specialised buildings

Specialised buildings

Dwellings

(i)

(i)

Specialised buildings with limited alternative uses
and/or substantial customisation e.g. prisons, hospitals,
and schools

Specialised items with limited alternative uses and/or
substantial customisation
If there is an active resale market available;

Vehicles

(i)

Depreciated
replacement
cost approach

Level 3,
where there Depreciated
is no active replacement
market in
cost approach
the area

Any type

(i)

Level 3

Level 2,
where there
Market
is an active
approach
market in
the area

Social/public housing/employee housing

Infrastructure

Plant and equipment

For general/commercial buildings that are just built

Likely
valuation
approach

If there is no active resale market available

Level 3

Depreciated
replacement
cost approach

Level 3

Depreciated
replacement
cost approach

Level 2

Market
approach

Level 3

Depreciated
replacement
cost approach

Significant
inputs
(Level 3
only)
N/A

CSO
adjustments
N/A
Cost per
square metre
Useful life

N/A

Cost per
square metre
Useful life
Cost per
square metre
Useful life
Cost per
square metre
Useful life
N/A
Cost per
square metre
Useful life

Newly built / acquired assets could be categorised as Level 2 assets as depreciation would not be a significant unobservable input (based on the 10% materiality

Note 8: Other disclosures
This section includes additional material disclosures, required by accounting standards or otherwise, for the understanding of this financial report.

Structure of Note 8

8.1 Equity
8.2 Reconciliation of net result for the year to net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities
8.3 Operating segments
8.4 Responsible persons disclosures
8.5 Executive officer disclosures
8.6 Related parties
8.7 Remuneration of auditors
8.8 AASBs issued that are not yet effective
8.9 Events occurring after the balance sheet date
8.10 Alternative presentation of comprehensive operating statement
8.11 Glossary of terms and style conventions

Note 8.1: Equity

(a) Surpluses
Property, Plant & Equipment Revaluation Surplus
Balance at the beginning of the reporting period
Increase due to amalgamation with Dunmunkle Health Services
Balance at the end of the reporting period*
* Represented by:
- Land
- Buildings
- Motor Vehicles
Total Surpluses

2017
$'000

2016
$'000

31,993
3,898
35,891

31,993
31,993

307
35,432
152
35,891
35,891

297
31,544
152
31,993
31,993

The Property, Plant & Equipment Revaluation Surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-current physical assets.
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Note 8.1: Equity (cont.)
2017
$'000
25,924
1,884
27,808

(b) Contributed Capital
Balance at the beginning of the reporting period
Increase due to amalgamation with Dunmunkle Health Services
Balance at the end of the reporting period

2016
$'000
25,924
25,924

Consistent with Australian Accounting Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities and FRD 119A
Contributions by Owners , appropriations for additions to the net asset base have been designated as contributed capital. Other transfers that are in
the nature of contributions to or distributions by owners that have been designated as contributed capital are also treated as contributed capital.
Transfers of net assets arising from administrative restructurings are treated as contributions by owners. Transfers of net liabilities arising from
administrative restructures are to go through the comprehensive operating statement.

(c) Accumulated Surpluses/(Deficits)
Balance at the beginning of the reporting period
Balance at the beginning of the reporting period - GRHA
Net Result for the Year
Net Result for the Year - GRHA
Decrease due to amalgamation with Dunmunkle Health Services
Balance at the end of the reporting period

2017
$'000
(118)
382
(1,256)
175
(1,298)
(2,115)

Total Equity at end of financial year

61,584

2016
$'000
1,199
146
(1,317)
236
264
58,181

Note 8.2: Reconciliation of Net Result for the Year to Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) from Operating Activities

Net result for the period
Non-cash movements:
Depreciation
Provision for doubtful debts
Movements included in investing and financing activities
Net (gain)/loss from disposal of non financial physical assets
Movements in assets and liabilities:
Change in operating assets and liabilities
(Increase)/decrease in receivables
(Increase)/decrease in other assets
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments
Increase/(decrease) in payables
Increase/(decrease) in provisions
Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities
(Increase) due to amalgamation
Change in inventories
NET CASH INFLOW/(OUTFLOW) FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

2017
$'000
(1,081)

2016
$'000
(1,081)

4,361
(20)

3,785
-

(45)

(39)

(78)
162
(365)
1,291
8
(851)
9
3,391

(953)
(169)
484
876
11
(6)
2,908

Note 8.3: Operating segments
Admitted

REVENUE
External Segment Revenue
Total Revenue
EXPENSES
External Segment Expenses
Total Expenses
Net result before capital and specific
items

Aged Care Other

RACS

2016

2017

2016

2017

2016

2017

2016

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

15,107
15,107

13,157
13,157

1,954
1,954

1,702
1,702

15,807
15,807

13,766
13,766

1,218
1,218

1,061
1,061

(13,591)
(13,591)

(11,676)
(11,676)

(2,407)
(2,407)

(2,068)
(2,068)

(16,979)
(16,979)

(14,586)
(14,586)

(1,674)
(1,674)

(1,438)
(1,438)

1,516

1,481

(453)

(366)

(1,172)

(820)

(456)

(377)

1,516

(1,253)
228

(453)

(151)
(517)

(1,172)

(1,523)
(2,343)

(456)

(156)
(533)

OTHER INFORMATION
Segment Assets
Total Assets

30,352
30,352

27,429
27,429

3,926
3,926

31,758
31,758

28,699
28,699

2,448
2,448

2,212
2,212

Segment Liabilities
Total Liabilities

(8,054)
(8,054)

(6,363)
(6,363)

(1,042)
(1,042)

(8,427)
(8,427)

(6,657)
(6,657)

(649)
(649)

(513)
(513)

Segment Equity
Total Equity

22,298
22,298

21,066
21,066

2,884
2,884

2,725
2,725

23,331
23,331

22,042
22,042

1,799
1,799

1,699
1,699

91

32

7

42

66

61

-

44

Depreciation Expense
Net Result for Year

Acquisition of Property, Plant and Equipment
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Non-Admitted

2017

3,548
3,548
(823)
(823)
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Note 8.3: Operating segments (cont.)

REVENUE
External Segment Revenue
Interest Income
Property Rental
Total Revenue
EXPENSES
External Segment Expenses
Total Expenses
Net result before capital and specific
items

Primary Health
2017
2016
$'000
$'000

Totals
2017
$'000

2016
$'000

2,711
2,711

2,361
2,361

4,479
322
100
4,901

3,901
319
70
4,290

41,277
322
100
41,699

35,948
319
70
36,337

(3,135)
(3,135)

(2,693)
(2,693)

(3,909)
(3,909)

(3,358)
(3,358)

(41,695)
(41,695)

(35,819)
(35,819)

(424)

(332)

Interest Expense
Capital Purpose Income
Depreciation Expense
Other economic flows
Net Result for Year

(424)

OTHER INFORMATION
Segment Assets
Total Assets
Segment Liabilities
Total Liabilities

Other Programs
2017
2016
$'000
$'000

(286)
(618)

992

932

4

518

(36)
3,089
(4,361)
223
(93)

(29)
2,215
(416)
2,702

(36)
3,089
(4,361)
223
(1,081)

(29)
2,215
(3,785)
(1,081)

5,447
5,447

4,922
4,922

9,897
9,897

8,944
8,944

83,827
83,827

75,753
75,753

(1,446)
(1,446)

(1,142)
(1,142)

(2,627)
(2,627)

(2,075)
(2,075)

(22,243)
(22,243)

(17,572)
(17,572)

4,001
4,001

3,780
3,780

7,270
7,270

6,869
6,869

61,584
61,584

58,181
58,181

-

16

1,321

927

1,485

1,122

Segment Equity
Total Equity
Acquisition of Property, Plant and Equipment

The major products/services from which the above segments derive revenue are:
Business Segment
Acute Care (Admitted Patients)
Non-Admitted Patients
Residential Aged Care Services (RACS)
Aged Care Other
Primary Health
Other Programs

Services
Acute Inpatient Care & Outpatients
Urgent Care, Community Nursing & Maternal & Child Health Nurse
Provision of Residential Aged Care Places
Community Aged Care Packages, Carers' Respite & Day Centre
Allied & Community Health
Disability Services, Dental Service and Meals on Wheels

Geographical Segment
West Wimmera Health Service operates predominantly in the West Wimmera region. More than 90% of revenue, net result from ordinary activities
and segment assets relate to operations in this area.

Note 8.4: Responsible persons disclosures
In accordance with the Ministerial Directions issued by the Minister for Finance under the Financial Management Act 1994 , the following disclosures are
made regarding responsible persons for the reporting period.
Period

Responsible Ministers:
The Honourable Jill Hennessy, Minister for Health, Minister for Ambulance Services
The Honourable Martin Foley, Minister for Housing, Disability and Ageing, Minister for Mental Health

1/7/2016 - 30/6/2017
1/7/2016 - 30/6/2017

Governing Board Members:
T. Allen
H. Champness
L. Clarke
K. Colbert
A. Hall
L. Milgate
J. Millington
L. Rogers
R. Rosewell
S. Thomas
D. Tyler
N. Zanker

1/7/2016
1/7/2016
1/7/2016
1/7/2016
1/7/2016
1/7/2016
1/7/2016
1/7/2016
1/7/2016
1/7/2016
1/7/2016
1/7/2016

Accountable Officer
J. N. Smith - Chief Executive Officer

1/7/2016 - 30/6/2017

-

30/6/2017
30/6/2017
30/6/2017
30/6/2017
30/6/2017
30/6/2017
30/6/2017
30/6/2017
30/6/2017
30/6/2017
30/6/2017
30/6/2017
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Note 8.4: Responsible persons disclosures (cont.)
Remuneration

Short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits
Total remuneration
Total number of responsible persons
Total annualised employee equivalent (AEE)

2017
$'000
299
23
322
13
1

Other transactions of Responsbile Persons and their Related Parties
There were no material other transactions of Responsible Persons and their Related Parties.

Note 8.5: Executive officer disclosures
Executive Officers' Remuneration
Remuneration of executives
The number of executive officers, other than Ministers and Accountable Officers, and their total remuneration during the reporting period are shown in
the table below. Total annualised employee equivalent provides a measure of full time equivalent executive officers over the reporting period.
Remuneration comprises employee benefits in all forms of consideration paid, payable or provided in exchange for services rendered, and is disclosed
in the following categories.
Short-term employee benefits include amounts such as wages, salaries, annual leave or sick leave that are usually paid or payable on a regular
basis, as well as non-monetary benefits such as allowances and free or subsidised goods or services.
Post-employment benefits include pensions and other retirement benefits paid or payable on a discrete basis when employment has ceased.

A factor that affected total remuneration payable to executives over the year was that a number of executives received bonus payments during the
year. These bonus payments depend on the terms of individual employment contracts which provide for bonuses on an annual basis.
Remuneration of executive officers

Short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits
Other long-term benefits
Total remuneration
Total number of executive officers
Total annualised employee equivalent (AEE)

2017
$'000
937
87
9
1,033
5
5

No comparatives have been reported because remuneration in the prior year was determined in line with the basis and definition under FRD 21B.
Remuneration previously excluded non-monetary benefits and comprised any money, consideration or benefit received or receivable, excluding
reimbursement of out-of-pocket expenses, including any amount received or receivable from a related party transaction. Refer to the prior year's
financial statements for executive remuneration for the 2015-2016 reporting period.
The total number of executive officers includes persons who meet the defnintion of Key Managmeent Personnel (KMP) of the entity under AASB 124
Related Party Disclosures and are also relevant to the related parties note disclosure (Note 8.6).
Annualised employee equivalent is based on the time fraction woked over the reporting period.

Note 8.6: Related parties
The Service is a wholly owned and controlled entity of the State of Victoria. Related parties of the Service include:
 all key management personnel and their close family members;
 all cabinet ministers and their close family members; and
 all hospitals and public sector entities that are controlled and consolidated into the whole of state consolidated financial statements.
All related party transactions have been entered into on an arm’s length basis.
Key management personnel (KMP) of the Service have been determined to be the Service's Responsible Ministers; Governing Board Members;
Accountable Officer; and Executive Officers. The compensation detailed in Notes 8.4 and 8.5 above excludes the salaries and benefits the Responsible
Ministers receive. The Ministers' remuneration and allowances are set by the Parliamentary Salaries and Superannuation Act 1968, and are reported
within the Department of Parliamentary Services’ Financial Report.
Transactions with key management personnel and other related parties
Given the breadth and depth of State government activities, related parties transact with the Victorian public sector in a manner consistent with other
members of the public e.g. patient fees. Further employment of processes within the Victorian public sector occur on terms and conditions consistent
with the Public Administration Act 2004 and Codes of Conduct and Standards issued by the Victorian Public Sector Commission. Procurement
processes occur on terms and conditions consistent with the Victorian Government Procurement Board's requirements and also those of Health
Purchasing Victoria. Outside of normal citizen type transactions with the Service, there were no related party transactions that involved key
management personnel and their close family members. No provision has been required, nor any expense recognised, for impairment of receivables
from related parties.
Significant transactions with government related entities
The Service received funding from the Department of Health and Human Services of $21.16 million (2016: $18.69 million).
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Note 8.7 Remuneration of auditors

Victorian Auditor-General's Office
Audit of financial statements

2017
$'000

2016
$'000

31
31

25
25

Note 8.8: AASBs issued that are not yet effective
Certain new Australian accounting standards have been published that are not mandatory for the 30 June 2017 reporting period. DTF assesses the
impact of all these new standards and advises the Health Service of their applicability and early adoption where applicable.
As at 30 June 2017, the following standards and interpretations had been issued by the AASB but were not yet effective. They become effective for
the first financial statements for reporting periods commencing after the stated operative dates as detailed in the table below. The Service has not and
does not intend to adopt these standards early.

Standard / Interpretation

Summary

AASB 9 Financial Instruments

The key changes include the simplified
requirements for the classification and
measurement of financial assets, a new hedging
accounting model and a revised impairment loss
model to recognise impairment losses earlier, as
opposed to the current approach that
recognises impairment only when incurred.

Applicable for annual
reporting periods
Impact on financial statements
beginning or ending on

1-Jan-18

The assessment has identified that the
amendments are likely to result in earlier
recognition of impairment losses and at more
regular intervals. While there will be no
significant impact arising from AASB 9, there will
be a change to the way financial instruments are
disclosed.

AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting
Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010)

The requirements for classifying and measuring
financial liabilities were added to AASB 9. The
existing requirements for the classification of
financial liabilities and the ability to use the fair
value option have been retained. However,
where the fair value option is used for financial
liabilities the change in fair value is accounted
for as follows:
- the change in fair value attributable to changes
in credit risk is presented in other
comprehensive income (OCI); and
- other fair value changes are presented in profit
and loss. If this approach creates or enlarges an
accounting mismatch in the profit or loss, the
effect of the changes in credit risk are also
presented in profit or loss.

1-Jan-18

The assessment has identified that the financial
impact of available for sale (AFS) assets will now
be reported through other comprehensive income
(OCI) and no longer recycled to the profit and
loss. Changes in own credit risk in respect of
liabilities designated at fair value through profit
and loss will now be presented within other
comprehensive income (OCI). Hedge accounting
will be more closely aligned with common risk
management practices making it easier to have
an effective hedge. For entities with significant
lending activities, an overhaul of related systems
and processes may be needed.

AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting
Standards [Part E Financial Instruments]

Amends various AASs to reflect the AASB’s
decision to defer the mandatory application date
of AASB 9 to annual reporting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2018 as a consequence of
Chapter 6 Hedge Accounting, and to amend
reduced disclosure requirements.

1-Jan-18

This amending standard will defer the application
period of AASB 9 to the 2018-19 reporting period
in accordance with the transition requirements.

AASB 2014-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting
Standards arising from AASB 9

Amends various AASs to incorporate the
consequential amendments arising from the
issuance of AASB 9.

1-Jan-18

The assessment has indicated that there will be
no significant impact for the public sector.

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The core principle of AASB 15 requires an entity
to recognise revenue when the entity satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring a
promised good or service to a customer.

1-Jan-18

The changes in revenue recognition
requirements in AASB 15 may result in changes
to the timing and amount of revenue recorded in
the financial statements. The Standard will also
require additional disclosures on service revenue
and contract modifications.

AASB 2014-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting
Standards arising from AASB 15

Amends the measurement of trade receivables
and the recognition of dividends. Trade
receivables, that do not have a significant
financing component, are to be measured at
their transaction price, at initial recognition.
Dividends are recognised in the profit and loss
only when:
- the entity’s right to receive payment of the
dividend is established;
- it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the dividend will flow to the
entity; and
- the amount can be measured reliably.

AASB 2015-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting
Standards – Effective Date of AASB 15

This Standard defers the mandatory effective
date of AASB 15 from 1 January 2017 to 1
January 2018.

1 Jan 2017, except
amendments to AASB 9 (Dec The assessment has indicated that there will be
2009) and AASB 9 (Dec 2010) no significant impact for the public sector.
apply from 1 Jan 2018

1-Jan-18

This amending standard will defer the application
period of AASB 15 for for-profit entities to the
2018-19 reporting period in accordance with the
transition requirements.
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Note 8.8: AASBs issued that are not yet effective (cont.)
Applicable for annual
reporting periods
beginning or ending on

Standard / Interpretation

Summary

AASB 2016-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting
Standards – Clarifications to AASB 15

This Standard amends AASB 15 to clarify the
requirements on identifying performance
obligations, principal versus agent
considerations and the timing of recognising
revenue from granting a licence. The
amendments require:
·
A promise to transfer to a customer a good
or service that is ‘distinct’ to be recognised as a
separate performance obligation;
·
For items purchased online, the entity is a
principal if it obtains control of the good or
service prior to transferring to the customer; and
·
For licences identified as being distinct
from other goods or services in a contract,
entities need to determine whether the licence
transfers to the customer over time (right to use)
or at a point in time (right to access).

1-Jan-18

The assessment has indicated that there will be
no significant impact for the public sector, other
than the impact identified for AASB 15 above.

This Standard defers the mandatory effective
AASB 2016-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting
date of AASB 15 for not-for-profit entities from 1
Standards – Deferral of AASB 15 for Not-for-Profit Entities
January 2018 to 1 January 2019.

1-Jan-19

This amending standard will defer the application
period of AASB 15 for not-for-profit entities to the
2019-20 reporting period.

This Standard amends AASB 9 and AASB 15 to
include requirements to assist not-for-profit
entities in applying the respective standards to
particular transactions and events. The
amendments:
- require non-contractual receivables arising
from statutory requirements (i.e. taxes, rates
and fines) to be initially measured and
recognised in accordance with AASB 9 as if
those receivables are financial instruments; and
- clarifies circumstances when a contract with
a customer is within the scope of AASB 15.

1-Jan-19

The assessment has indicated that there will be
no significant impact for the public sector, other
than the impacts identified for AASB 9 and AASB
15 above.

1-Jan-19

The assessment has indicated that as most
operating leases will come on balance sheet,
recognition of the right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities will cause net debt to increase. Rather
than expensing the lease payments, depreciation
of right-of-use assets and interest on lease
liabilities will be recognised in the income
statement with marginal impact on the operating
surplus. No change for lessors.

1 Jan 2017

The assessment has indicated that there is
minimal impact. Given the specialised nature and
restrictions of public sector assets, the existing
use is presumed to be the highest and best use
(HBU), hence current replacement cost under
AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement is the same
as the depreciated replacement cost concept
under AASB 136.

1-Jan-19

The assessment has indicated that revenue from
capital grants that are provided under an
enforceable agreement that have sufficiently
specific obligations, will now be deferred and
recognised as performance obligations are
satisfied. As a result, the timing recognition of
revenue will change.

AASB 2016-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting
Standards – Australian Implementation Guidance for Notfor-Profit Entities

AASB 16 Leases

The key changes introduced by AASB 16
include the recognition of most operating leases
(which are currently not recognised) on balance
sheet.

AASB 2016-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting
Standards – Recoverable Amount of Non-CashGenerating Specialised Assets of Not-for-Profit Entities

The standard amends AASB 136 Impairment of
Assets to remove references to using
depreciated replacement cost (DRC) as a
measure of value in use for not-for-profit
entities.

AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities

This standard replaces AASB 1004
Contributions and establishes revenue
recognition principles for transactions where the
consideration to acquire an asset is significantly
less than fair value to enable to not-for-profit
entity to further its objectives.

Impact on financial statements

In addition to the new standards and amendments above, the AASB has issued a list of other amending standards that are not effective for the 2016-17 reporting period (as listed below). In
general, these amending standards include editorial and references changes that are expected to have insignificant impacts on public sector reporting.
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Note 8.9: Events Occurring after the Balance Sheet Date
Assets, liabilities, income or expenses arise from past transactions or other past events. Where the transactions result from an agreement between the
Service and other parties, the transactions are only recognised when the agreement is irrevocable at or before the end of the reporting period.
Adjustments are made to amounts recognised in the financial statements for events which occur between the end of the reporting period and the date
when the financial statements are authorised for issue, where those events provide information about conditions which existed at the reporting date.
Note disclosure is made about events between the end of the reporting period and the date the financial statements are authorised for issue where the
events relate to conditions which arose after the end of the reporting period that are considered to be of material interest.
There were no subsequent events.

Note 8.10: Alternate Presentation of Comprehensive operating statement
For the Year Ended 30 June 2017
2017
$'000
Grants
Sales of goods and services
Interest
Capital purpose income
Other income
Revenue from Transactions
Employee expenses
Non-salary labour costs
Interest
Other operating expenses
Depreciation
Expenses from Transactions
Net Result from Transactions
Other economic flows included in net result
Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets
Revaluation of Long Service Leave
Total other economic flows included in net result
NET RESULT FOR THE YEAR

2016
$'000

23,043
16,128
322
3,044
2,206
44,743

20,702
13,462
319
2,176
1,854
38,513

(31,289)
(2,113)
(36)
(8,293)
(4,361)
(46,092)
(1,349)

(26,170)
(1,821)
(29)
(7,828)
(3,785)
(39,633)
(1,120)

45
223
268
(1,081)

39
39
(1,081)

Note 8.11: Glossary of terms and style conventions
Actuarial gains or losses on superannuation defined benefit plans
Actuarial gains or losses are changes in the present value of the superannuation defined benefit liability resulting from
(a) experience adjustments (the effects of differences between the previous actuarial assumptions and what has actually occurred); and
(b) the effects of changes in actuarial assumptions.
Amortisation
Amortisation is the expense which results from the consumption, extraction or use over time of a non-produced physical or intangible asset.
Associates
Associates are all entities over which an entity has significant influence but not control, generally accompanying a shareholding and voting rights of
between 20 per cent and 50 per cent.
Comprehensive result
The net result of all items of income and expense recognised for the period. It is the aggregate of operating result and other comprehensive income.
Commitments
Commitments include those operating, capital and other outsourcing commitments arising from non-cancellable contractual or statutory sources.
Current grants
Amounts payable or receivable for current purposes for which no economic benefits of equal value are receivable or payable in return.
Depreciation
Depreciation is an expense that arises from the consumption through wear or time of a produced physical or intangible asset. This expense reduces the
‘net result for the year’.
Effective interest method
The effective interest method is used to calculate the amortised cost of a financial asset or liability and of allocating interest income over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period
Employee benefits expenses
Employee benefits expenses include all costs related to employment including wages and salaries, fringe benefits tax, leave entitlements, redundancy
payments, defined benefits superannuation plans, and defined contribution superannuation plans.
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Note 8.11: Glossary of terms and style conventions (cont.)
Ex gratia expenses
Ex-gratia expenses mean the voluntary payment of money or other non-monetary benefit (e.g. a write off) that is not made either to acquire goods,
services or other benefits for the entity or to meet a legal liability, or to settle or resolve a possible legal liability, or claim against the entity.
Financial asset
A financial asset is any asset that is:
(a) cash;
(b) an equity instrument of another entity;
(c) a contractual or statutory right:
• to receive cash or another financial asset from another entity; or
• to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are potentially favorable to the entity; or
(d) a contract that will or may be settled in the entity’s own equity instruments and is:
• a non-derivative for which the entity is or may be obliged to receive a variable number of the entity’s own equity instruments; or
• a derivative that will or may be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a
fixed number of the entity’s own equity instruments.
Financial instrument
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity.
Financial assets or liabilities that are not contractual (such as statutory receivables or payables that arise as a result of statutory requirements imposed
by governments) are not financial instruments.
Financial liability
A financial liability is any liability that is:
(a) A contractual obligation:
(i) to deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity; or
(ii) to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions
that are potentially unfavorable to the entity; or
(b) A contract that will or may be settled in the entity’s own equity instruments and is:
(i) a non-derivative for which the entity is or may be obliged to deliver a variable number
of the entity’s own equity instruments; or
(ii) a derivative that will or may be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of
cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of the entity’s own equity instruments. For this purpose the entity’s own equity
instruments do not include instruments that are themselves contracts for the future receipt or delivery of the entity’s own equity instruments.
Financial statements
A complete set of financial statements comprises:
(a) Balance sheet as at the end of the period;
(b) Comprehensive operating statement for the period;
(c) A statement of changes in equity for the period;
(d) Cash flow statement for the period;
(e) Notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information;
(f) Comparative information in respect of the preceding period as specified in paragraph 38 of AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements; and
(g) A statement of financial position at the beginning of the preceding period when an entity applies an accounting policy retrospectively or makes a
retrospective restatement of items in its financial statements, or when it reclassifies items in its financial statements in accordance with paragraphs 41
of AASB 101.
Grants and other transfers
Transactions in which one unit provides goods, services, assets (or extinguishes a liability) or labour to another unit without receiving approximately
equal value in return. Grants can either be operating or capital in nature.
While grants to governments may result in the provision of some goods or services to the transferor, they do not give the transferor a claim to receive
directly benefits of approximately equal value. For this reason, grants are referred to by the AASB as involuntary transfers and are termed nonreciprocal transfers. Receipt and sacrifice of approximately equal value may occur, but only by coincidence. For example, governments are not obliged
to provide commensurate benefits, in the form of goods or services, to particular taxpayers in return for their taxes. Grants can be paid as general
purpose grants which refer to grants that are not subject to conditions regarding their use. Alternatively, they may be paid as specific purpose grants
which are paid for a particular purpose and/or have conditions attached regarding their use.
General government sector
The general government sector comprises all government departments, offices and other bodies engaged in providing services free of charge or at
prices significantly below their cost of production. General government services include those which are mainly non-market in nature, those which are
largely for collective consumption by the community and those which involve the transfer or redistribution of income. These services are financed
mainly through taxes, or other compulsory levies and user charges.
Intangible produced assets
Refer to produced assets in this glossary.
Intangible non-produced assets
Refer to non-produced asset in this glossary.
Interest expense
Costs incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds includes interest on bank overdrafts and short-term and long-term liabilities, amortisation of
discounts or premiums relating to liabilities, interest component of finance leases repayments, and the increase in financial liabilities and nonemployee provisions due to the unwinding of discounts to reflect the passage of time.
Interest income
Interest income includes unwinding over time of discounts on financial assets and interest received on bank term deposits and other investments.
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Note 8.11: Glossary of terms and style conventions (cont.)
Investment properties
Investment properties represent properties held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Investment properties exclude properties held to
meet service delivery objectives of the State of Victoria.
Joint Arrangements
A joint arrangement is an arrangement of which two or more parties have joint control. A joint arrangement has the following characteristics:
(a) The parties are bound by a contractual arrangement.
(b) The contractual arrangement gives two or more of those parties joint control of the arrangement
A joint arrangement is either a joint operation or a joint venture.
Liabilities
Liabilities refers to interest-bearing liabilities mainly raised from public liabilities raised through the Treasury Corporation of Victoria, finance leases and
other interest-bearing arrangements. Liabilities also include non-interest-bearing advances from government that are acquired for policy purposes.
Net acquisition of non-financial assets (from transactions)
Purchases (and other acquisitions) of non-financial assets less sales (or disposals) of non-financial assets less depreciation plus changes in inventories
and other movements in non-financial assets. It includes only those increases or decreases in non-financial assets resulting from transactions and
therefore excludes write-offs, impairment write-downs and revaluations.
Net result
Net result is a measure of financial performance of the operations for the period. It is the net result of items of income, gains and expenses (including
losses) recognised for the period, excluding those that are classified as ‘other comprehensive income’.
Net result from transactions/net operating balance
Net result from transactions or net operating balance is a key fiscal aggregate and is income from transactions minus expenses from transactions. It is
a summary measure of the ongoing sustainability of operations. It excludes gains and losses resulting from changes in price levels and other changes
in the volume of assets.
Net worth
Assets less liabilities, which is an economic measure of wealth.
Non-financial assets
Non-financial assets are all assets that are not ‘financial assets’. It includes inventories, land, buildings, infrastructure, road networks, land under
roads, plant and equipment, investment properties, cultural and heritage assets, intangible and biological assets.
Non-produced assets
Non-produced assets are assets needed for production that have not themselves been produced. They include land, subsoil assets, and certain
intangible assets. Non-produced intangibles are intangible assets needed for production that have not themselves been produced. They include
constructs of society such as patents.
Non-profit institution
A legal or social entity that is created for the purpose of producing or distributing goods and services but is not permitted to be a source of income,
profit or other financial gain for the units that establish, control or finance it.
Payables
Includes short and long term trade debt and accounts payable, grants, taxes and interest payable.
Produced assets
Produced assets include buildings, plant and equipment, inventories, cultivated assets and certain intangible assets. Intangible produced assets may
include computer software, motion picture films, and research and development costs (which does not include the startup costs associated with capital
projects).
Public financial corporation sector
Public financial corporations (PFCs) are bodies primarily engaged in the provision of financial intermediation services or auxiliary financial services.
They are able to incur financial liabilities on their own account (e.g. taking deposits, issuing securities or providing insurance services). Estimates are
not published for the public financial corporation sector.
Public non-financial corporation sector
The public non-financial corporation (PNFC) sector comprises bodies mainly engaged in the production of goods and services (of a non-financial
nature) for sale in the market place at prices that aim to recover most of the costs involved (e.g. water and port authorities). In general, PNFCs are
legally distinguishable from the governments which own them.
Receivables
Includes amounts owing from government through appropriation receivable, short and long term trade credit and accounts receivable, accrued
investment income, grants, taxes and interest receivable.
Sales of goods and services
Refers to income from the direct provision of goods and services and includes fees and charges for services rendered, sales of goods and services, fees
from regulatory services and work done as an agent for private enterprises. It also includes rental income under operating leases and on produced
assets such as buildings and entertainment, but excludes rent income from the use of non-produced assets such as land. User charges includes sale of
goods and services income.
Supplies and services
Supplies and services generally represent cost of goods sold and the day-to-day running costs, including maintenance costs, incurred in the normal
operations of the Department.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
30 June 2017

Note 8.11: Glossary of terms and style conventions (cont.)
Taxation income
Taxation income represents income received from the State’s taxpayers and includes:
• payroll tax; land tax; duties levied principally on conveyances and land transfers;
• gambling taxes levied mainly on private lotteries, electronic gaming machines, casino
operations and racing;
• insurance duty relating to compulsory third party, life and non-life policies;
• insurance company contributions to fire brigades;
• motor vehicle taxes, including registration fees and duty on registrations and transfers;
• levies (including the environmental levy) on statutory corporations in other sectors of
government; and
• other taxes, including landfill levies, license and concession fees.
Transactions
Revised Transactions are those economic flows that are considered to arise as a result of policy decisions, usually an interaction between two entities
by mutual agreement. They also include flows in an entity such as depreciation where the owner is simultaneously acting as the owner of the
depreciating asset and as the consumer of the service provided by the asset.
Taxation is regarded as mutually agreed interactions between the government and taxpayers. Transactions can be in kind (e.g. assets provided/given
free of charge or for nominal consideration) or where the final consideration is cash.

Style conventions
Figures in the tables and in the text have been rounded. Discrepancies in tables between totals and sums of components reflect rounding. Percentage
variations in all tables are based on the underlying unrounded amounts.
The notation used in the tables is as follows:
zero, or rounded to zero
(xxx.x) negative numbers
201x year period
201x-1x year period
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Board of West Wimmera Health Service
Opinion

I have audited the financial report of West Wimmera Health Service (the health service)
which comprises the:







balance sheet as at 30 June 2017
comprehensive operating statement for the year then ended
statement of changes in equity for the year then ended
cash flow statement for the year then ended
notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies
board member's, accountable officer's and chief finance and accounting officer's
declaration.

In my opinion the financial report presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the health service as at 30 June 2017 and their financial performance and cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with the financial reporting requirements of
Part 7 of the Financial Management Act 1994 and applicable Australian Accounting
Standards.
Basis for
Opinion

I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which incorporates the
Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under the Act are further described in the
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of my report.
My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. My staff and I are
independent of the health service in accordance with the ethical requirements of the
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in
Australia. My staff and I have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code.
I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for my opinion.

Board’s
responsibilities
for the
financial
report

The Board of the health service is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of
the financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Financial
Management Act 1994, and for such internal control as the Board determines is necessary
to enable the preparation and fair presentation of a financial report that is free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial report, the Board is responsible for assessing the health service’s
ability to continue as a going concern, and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless it is inappropriate to do so.
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Auditor’s
responsibilities
for the audit
of the financial
report

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial
report based on the audit. My objectives for the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.
As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:









identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the health service’s internal control
evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board
conclude on the appropriateness of the Board’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the health service’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the health service to cease to continue as a going concern.
evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

I communicate with the Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that I identify during my audit.

MELBOURNE
29 August 2017

Ron Mak
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria
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